# CHARACTERIZING THE PROTEOMIC AND MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTIONAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN NORMAL-pH AND DARK-CUTTING BEEF

By

# FRANK KIYIMBA

Bachelor of Science in Agriculture

Makerere University

Kampala, Uganda

2017

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE December 2019

# CHARACTERIZING THE PROTEOMIC AND MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTIONAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN NORMAL-pH AND DARK-CUTTING BEEF

Thesis Approved:

Dr. Ranjith Ramanathan

Thesis Adviser

Dr. Steven. D. Hartson

Dr. Gretchen. G. Mafi

Dr. Deborah. L. VanOverbeke

# Acknowledgments

First, I give glory to **God**, the almighty for the gift of life. **He** has granted unto me and for leading me successfully through this challenging time. Thank you, Lord.

In a special way, I would like to thank my family chief, among them, my mother, Miss. **Nampiima Specioza** for the unconditional endless love and for the moral and financial support she provided without ceasing whatsoever, Mammy, thank you and I know you are happy with my achievements. My siblings Richard Ssebuliba, William Ssimbwa, Michael Buyondo, and Angella Nakabuubi whose tireless and selfless efforts to support me through this journey financially and spiritually can only be rewarded by the Almighty God. Words cannot express my sincere gratitude to you all.

My heart will always rejoice for my academic supervisor Dr. Ranjith Ramanathan for having given me this opportunity to work on this project. I have accumulated surmountable intellectual and personal debts with him. Thank you for your guidance and commitment to this project, those things would not have happened if it was not your input. I have reached where I am because of you.

I am greatly thankful to Dr. Steven Hartson for his tremendous input into this project and for the fair intellectual criticism, competent guidance, and unfailing generosity right from experimental setup, through experimentation, data analysis, and presentation. My committee

Acknowledgements reflect the views of the author and are not endorsed by committee members or Oklahoma State University.

members, Dr. Gretchen Mafi and Dr. Deborah VanOverbeke, you have been consistently generous with time and useful suggestions. Thank you!

I would like to thank all the friends I made along the way, specifically Joel Komakech, Valerie Novak, Cheyenne Edmondson, and fellow lab mates Thiago Belem, Morgan Denzer, Drew Cassens, Macy Perry, Laura Yoder, Taylor Price, and Kathryn Hearn. You have helped me to endure this process. Thank you!

#### Name: Frank Kiyimba

# Date of Degree: December 2019

**Title of Study**: CHARACTERIZING THE PROTEOMIC AND MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTIONAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN NORMAL-pH AND DARK-CUTTING BEEF

# Major Field: ANIMAL SCIENCE

Abstract: Dark-cutting beef is an example of color deviation, in which beef fails to have a characteristic bright-red color. The overall goal of the current research was to determine the biochemical basis of dark-cutting beef. Two separate experiments were conducted to determine differential protein expression and mitochondrial functional differences between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef. Protein profiles were identified using proteomic analysis and mitochondrial respiration function was evaluated using a Clark-oxygen electrode. Mass spectrometry analysis identified 1,162 proteins. Of these, 92 proteins were differentially expressed (p < 0.05) between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef. Out of the 92 proteins, we confidently identified 52 proteins whose expression levels changed (by  $\geq$ 1.3 fold). Of these, 27 were up-regulated and 25 were down-regulated in dark-cutting beef. Upregulated proteins were involved in mitochondrial function, muscle contraction, and mitophagy while down-regulated proteins were involved in glycogen and energy reserve metabolism processes and associated with phosphorylase kinase activity, calmodulin, and polysaccharide binding molecular functions. In addition, we observed that mitochondria isolated from dark-cutting beef had greater (P < 0.05) mitochondrial complex II respiration, state III oxygen consumption and uncoupled respiration (p < 0.05), with a greater respiratory control ratio (RCR), and a lower ADP/O ratio compared to normal-pH beef mitochondria. However, no differences (p > 0.05) in mitochondrial complexes I and IV respiration, state IV oxygen consumption and mitochondrial membrane integrity from normal-pH and dark-cutting beef. The results from the current study suggest that a greater expression of mitochondrial electron transport chain proteins supports mitochondrial respiratory function in dark-cutting beef, which can influence color development and stability via oxygen consumption. Understanding the biochemical basis will help to elucidate the etiology of the dark-cutting phenotype.

Keywords: Dark-cutting, meat color, proteomics, mitochondria oxygen consumption, mass spectrometry, bioinformatics

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. Literature review	1
Meat color	1
Dark-cutting beef	3
Mitochondrial structure and biochemistry	6
Mitochondria and meat color	9
Mitochondria and substrates	11
Relationship between mitochondria and myoglobin function	13
Proteomic approaches in meat quality research	14
II. Differential protein abundance of normal-ph and dark-cutting beef	16
Abstract	17
Introduction	18
Materials and Methods	19
Materials and reagents	19
Characterizing the biochemical properties of normal-pH and dark- cutting be	ef19
Protein concentration	21

Protein digestion and peptide mass spectrometry analysis
Database searching
Bioinformatics analysis of the differentially expressed proteins (DEPs)22
Non-specific peptide cleavage searching to differentiate in-situ versus trypsinolytic
proteolysis
Results
Biochemical properties of normal-pH and dark-cutting beef
Protein identification and differentially expressed proteins (DEPs)24
Gene ontology analysis of the differentially expressed proteins (DEPs)25
Protein-protein interaction networks in the DEPs26
DEPs involved in glycogen metabolism and mitochondrial electron transport chain26
Non-specific peptide cleavage searching to differentiate in-situ versus trypsinolytic
proteolysis
Discussion
Color and biochemical properties
Differential protein profiles of normal-pH and dark-cutting beef
Determination of non-specific peptide cleavage to differentiate in-situ versus
trypsinolytic proteolysis

Conclusion
------------

III. Mitochondrial function differences in normal-pH and dark-cutting beef	42
Abstract	43
Introduction	44
Materials and Methods	45
Materials and Chemicals	45
Mitochondrial Isolation and protein quantification	45
Color characteristics and biochemical properties	46
Mitochondrial isolation	47
Mitochondrial respiratory activity	48
Mitochondrial complex I, II, and IV oxygen consumptionError! Bookmark	not
defined.	
Determination of RCR and ADP/O ratios	49
Mitochondrial outer membrane permeability and uncoupled oxid	dative
phosphorylation	49
Statistical analysis	50
Results	50

Muscle pH and mitochondrial protein content	50
Mitochondrial complex I, II and IV oxygen consumption	51
Mitochondrial outer membrane integrity and respiratory control ratio	51
Mitochondrial coupled and uncoupled oxidative phosphorylation	52
Discussion	52
Biochemical properties of normal-pH and dark-cutting steaks	52
Mitochondrial protein content	53
Effects on mitochondrial functionality	53
Conclusion	55
REFERENCES	66
APPENDICES	83

# LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
Table 1. Comparison of mitochondrial content and biochemical properties of norr	nal-pH
and dark-cutting beef longissimus muscle	64
Table 2: Proteins with higher ( $\uparrow$ ) expression (P < 0.05) in dark cutting beef relative	ve to
normal beef	
Table 3: Proteins with lower ( $\downarrow$ ) expression (P < 0.05) in dark cutting beef relative	e to
normal-pH beef	

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
Figure 1: Schematic diagram of the mitochondria electron transport chain9
Figure 2: Identification and quantification of differentially expressed proteins in dark-
cutting beef compared with normal-pH beef
Figure 3: Functional enrichment analysis of the differentially expressed proteins
Figure 4: Enrichment of protein-protein interaction subnetworks of differentially
expressed proteins in dark-cutting beef
Figure 5: Representation of differentially expressed proteins (DEPs) in dark-cutting beef
that are involved in the mitochondrial respiratory electron transport pathway
Figure 6: Representation differentially expressed proteins (DEPs) in dark-cutting beef
involved in glycogen metabolism pathway40
Figure 7: Non-specific peptide cleavage analysis to validate the differential abundance of
active proteolytic degradation in-situ in dark-cutting beef compared with normal-pH40
Figure 8: Differences in mitochondrial protein content (A) and Muscle pH (B) in normal-
pH (green) and dark-cutting beef (red)
Figure 9: Evaluation of mitochondrial respiration at complex I, II, and IV57
Figure 10: Differences in mitochondrial OCR measured in normal-pH beef (red) vs. dark-
cutting beef (green)

Figure 11: Evaluation of mitochondrial state III, IV and outer membrane integrity59
Figure 12: Differences in mitochondrial OCR under state III and state IV in normal-pH
and dark-Cutting beef60
Figure 13: Differences in mitochondrial outer membrane integrity and respiratory control
ratio in normal-pH (Red) and dark-cutting beef (green)61
Figure 14: Evaluation of mitochondrial uncoupled respiration using FCCP uncoupler62
Figure 15: Differences in mitochondrial coupled and uncoupled respiration between
normal-pH (red) and dark-cutting beef (green)

# CHAPTER I

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

# Meat color

Meat color is the most important quality attribute that determines consumers' purchasing decisions. Consumers associate a bright cherry-red color of meat with wholesomeness and freshness (Faustman & Cassens, 1990; Mancini & Hunt, 2005). Consumers do not purchase meat when meat surface discoloration reaches 30-40% metmyoglobin (Cornforth, 1994). Jeyamkondan et al. (2000) reported that meat discoloration limits shelf life and marketability of fresh red meat. Thus, retailers either trim off discolored areas or discount prices for discolored meat. As a result, the US meat industry loses approximately \$1 billion due to discoloration annually (Smith et al., 2000).

The color of meat is primarily determined by a sarcoplasmic protein called myoglobin (AMSA, 2012; Bekhit & Faustman, 2005; Cornforth, 1994; Faustman & Cassens, 1990). Physiologically, myoglobin functions as an oxygen reservoir in muscle. The molecular structure of myoglobin is composed of 153 amino acids, with a porphyrin ring containing iron. The Iron atom contained within the heme protein is capable of forming up to six coordination bonds (AMSA, 2012). Four of these bonds are coordinated with the pyrrole nitrogen rings. The fifth is attached to the proximal imidazole group of histidine (histidine

residue at position 93), while the sixth is available for ligand binding (Richards, 2013). The heme prosthetic groups consist of a hydrophobic pocket and a globin polypeptide moiety. Iron moiety within the heme can exist in a ferric or ferrous state (AMSA, 2012). The valance state of iron and the nature of the ligand-bound at the sixth coordination site determines meat color (AMSA, 2012). In fresh meat, myoglobin exists in three redox states, namely oxy-, deoxy- and met-myoglobin (AMSA, 2012). Deoxymyoglobin is formed when no ligand is bound to the ferrous heme iron, producing a purple color. The bright-red color results from oxymyoglobin forms brown metmyoglobin, with ferric heme iron and water as the bound ligand. The formation of metmyoglobin is a proton-mediated process (Brantley et al., 1993; Wallace et al., 1982). Low oxygen concentrations less than 7 mm Hg (about 1-2% oxygen) facilitate metmyoglobin formation (AMSA, 2012). In addition to myoglobin, other sarcoplasmic proteins such as hemoglobin and cytochrome *c* also contribute to meat color (Ahn and Maurer, 1990; Yu et al., 2017).

Other factors such as species-specificity, environment, slaughter processes, and storage conditions can influence meat color. In addition, variability in meat color between seasons is attributed to differences in physical activity, stress, and nutritional status of the animal (Kadim et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2003). The inherent biochemical profiles of different muscles also determine meat color stability (Faustman and Cassens, 1990; Mckenna et al., 2005; Salim et al., 2019). Further, differential abundance of sarcoplasmic proteins in colorlabile compared with color-stable muscles influences their color stability characteristics (Canto et al., 2015). Additionally, Abraham et al. (2017) showed that the inherent differences in metabolic profiles contribute to differences in muscle-specific redness and metmyoglobin reducing ability (MRA) in beef longissimus compared to psoas muscles under retail display conditions.

Biochemical changes during pre- and post-mortem environments influence postmortem muscle-pH and meat color. For example, depletion of muscle glycogen before slaughter limits pH decline, and is associated with a high ultimate muscle pH greater than 5.6 (Mancini & Hunt, 2005; Rosenvold et al., 2001). A greater muscle pH can result in dark-colored muscles due to decreased myoglobin oxygenation (Ashmore et al., 1971). Additionally, high pH levels allow muscle proteins to hold more water limiting the muscle's capacity to scatter light and resulting in darker muscle color (Lawrie, 1958 & MacDougall, 1982).

# **Dark-cutting beef**

Dark-cutting beef is a meat quality defect in which meat does not display a characteristic bright-red color typical in normal-pH beef (Apple et al., 2011; Lawrie, 1958; McKeith et al., 2016; Wills et al., 2017). About \$165-\$170 million is lost by the USA beef industry due to dark-cutting carcasses (McKenna et al., 2002). In the 2011 National Beef Quality Audit, 3.2% of the total carcasses assessed were dark- cutters (Moore et al., 2012). However, in the 2016 National Beef Quality Audit, the incidence of dark-cutting beef declined with the highest of 0.74% in October and the lowest of 0.33% in January (Boykin et al., 2017). In Canada, dark-cutting beef is graded as B4 with a reduction in carcass price

of 50 cents per pound causing losses of up to \$1.4 million annually to Canadian beef producers. The incidences of carcasses graded B4 in Canada was reported to increase by 1.3% in 2011 from 0.8% in 1998 (Holdstock et al., 2014). Brown et al. (1990) reported that about 4.1% of carcasses slaughtered in the United Kingdom were dark-cutters and the cause was associated with short and long transport distance. In South Chile, incidences of dark-cutting beef were reported at about 17- 40% per year (Gallo et al., 2003). Therefore, dark-cutting beef presents economic challenges to the beef industry worldwide. Thus, understanding the mechanism of occurrence may help mitigate this problem.

The occurrence of the dark-cutting condition is associated with a high ultimate postmortem muscle-pH in excess of 5.8. (Mahmood et al., 2018; Ponnampalam et al., 2017; Wulf et al., 2002). The depletion of glycogen before slaughter limits muscle metabolism, preventing muscle pH decline below 6.0 (Briskey et al., 1966; Ferguson and Gerrard, 2014). Muscles with a high ultimate pH have reduced levels of glucose-6-phosphate and low rates of anaerobic glycolysis (Baker et al., 2005; Briskey et al., 1966; Jensen et al., 2011). Thus, the decline in muscle glycolysis limits the muscles' capacity to form lactate.

Lactate accumulation in the muscle initiates post-mortem pH decline. Additionally, Campbell (1993) reported that lactate formed during post-mortem glycolysis is mainly utilized in the regeneration of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide residues (NAD<sup>+</sup>), a coenzyme required in glyceraldehyde phosphate dehydrogenase activity. This enzyme initiates glycogen degradation pathways, producing glucose-6-phosphate (Komoda and Matsunaga, 2015). The formed glucose-6-phosphate is utilized in the production of lactate post-mortem. Therefore, impaired glycolytic metabolism can influence post-mortem muscle pH through reduced lactate accumulation.

Ashmore et al. (1971) noted that high ultimate muscle pH could result in sustained mitochondrial function post-mortem. Increased mitochondrial function can increase mitochondrial oxygen consumption while decreasing available oxygen for blooming. Therefore, the biochemical and physical characteristics of dark-cutting beef result from a high ultimate muscle pH which can influence muscle metabolism and color development post-mortem.

Several other factors are also associated with the occurrence of dark-cutting beef. Guilbert (1937) postulated that the causes of dark-cutting beef are connected to hereditary factors. However, Lawrie (1958) suggested that the occurrence of dark-cutting beef is associated with stress prior to slaughter. Different stressors pre-slaughter, especially during transport, reduce muscle glycogen reserves resulting in elevated pH levels post-mortem. Recently, Jerez-Timaure et al. (2019) showed that an overexpression of genes involved in stress-related signaling pathways such as growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible beta (GADD45B), protein-lysine methyl transferase (METTL21C) and amine oxidase [Flavincontaining] A (MAOA), contribute to the high muscle pH by regulating calcium signaling and oxidative metabolism. On-farm factors such as nutrition, feeding systems, gender and climatic conditions also contribute to the occurrence of dark-cutting beef. For example, the prevalence of dark-cutting beef is higher in bulls than in steers or heifers (Martin et al., 1978). Bulls are highly susceptible to stress compared to heifers (Field, 1971). Animals finished on pastures are more likely to produce dark-colored meat compared with feedlot animals (Muir et al., 1998). This is attributed to low energy levels of pasture-based diets (Sainz et al., 1995). In addition, animals finishing on pastures have high-energy demands for digestion and locomotion while grazing, which reduces their glycogen reserves. Seasonal variations in pasture distributions and environmental weather conditions may also contribute to dark-cutting beef. Kim et al. (2003) reported that animals slaughtered in winter seasons with temperatures below 5°C are more likely to produce undesirable meat color characteristics compared to those slaughter at warmer temperatures. However, high temperatures especially very hot summers can also increase dark-cutting conditions.

Although several factors are connected with the occurrence of dark-cutting beef, the mechanistic basis is still unknown. Therefore, employment of comprehensive analysis at a molecular level using modern analytical tools such as proteomics, metabolomics, and genomics may widen our understanding of the dark-cutting problem.

# Mitochondrial structure and biochemistry

Mitochondria are double membrane-bound organelles responsible for maintaining cellular energy homeostasis through the production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Live

cell microscopic studies revealed that mitochondria are highly dynamic cellular organelles capable of building large interconnected intracellular networks (Bereiter-Hahn, 1990), with numerous fusion and fission processes (Westermann, 2010). The outer membrane of the mitochondria appears as a continuous sheath with different physical and chemical composition from the inner membrane. The inner mitochondrial membrane is folded into numerous structures called cristae (Chappell, 1968). The surface membrane of the cristae creates a proton gradient necessary for oxygen diffusion, supporting mitochondrial respiration (Osellame et al., 2012). Various proteins including proteins involved in redox and oxidative phosphorylation pathways, ATP synthase complex, and transport proteins are embedded in the inner mitochondrial membrane (Chappell, 1968).

Large conductance pores called permeability transport pores (PTP) span the inner mitochondrial membrane and are responsible for regulating mitochondrial membrane permeability and function (Bernardi and Di Lisa, 2015; Osellame et al., 2012; Palmer et al., 2011). The opening of mitochondrial membrane pore is associated with the collapse of mitochondrial membrane potential, ATP depletion, and rapid progression to cell death (Palmer et al., 2011). Changes in mitochondrial membrane permeability result from releases of cytochrome c, a major electron transport protein capable of initiating apoptosis (Bernardi and Di Lisa, 2015; Kroemer et al., 2007; Nilsson et al., 2009). When released, cytochrome c binds to Apoptotic protease-activating factor 1 (Apaf-1) exposing card domains of Apaf-1 proteins (Osellame et al., 2012). The combination of cytochrome c and Apaf-1 complex recruits procaspase-9, forming an active apoptome, which in turn, activates apoptotic caspase 3 proteins. Apoptotic caspase 3 proteins, can attack other proteins causing changes in mitochondrial cell metabolism and programmed cell death (Bernardi and Di Lisa, 2015; Osellame et al., 2012).

The proton gradient across the mitochondrial membrane is maintained by electron transport and active transfer of calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) ions in and out of the matrix (Chaudhuri et al., 2013). Ca<sup>2+</sup> ion movement into the mitochondrial matrix is proposed to up-regulate the rate-limiting enzymes of the tricarboxylic cycle (TCA) necessary for increasing cellular energy levels. Jouaville et al. (1999) showed that NAD-isocitrate, pyruvate and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenases contained in the mitochondrial matrix are up-regulated by excess Ca<sup>2+</sup>ion uptake, which increases TCA substrate oxidation. However, an increase in mitochondrial enzymatic activity depends on constant supply of TCA substrates from complete oxidation of sugars, fats, and proteins (Osellame et al., 2012). The reduced cofactors (NADH and FADH) resulting from such processes are shunted into the mitochondrial shuttle system across a series of multi-subunit enzyme complexes (mitochondrial electron transport chain proteins) embedded in the inner mitochondrial membrane for ATP production (Wedell and Merker, 1964; Collins et al., 2012).

The mitochondrial electron transport chain is made up of four protein complexes. Electrons picked up by NADH and FADH are transferred from NADH-Coenzyme Qreductase (Complex I) to succinate dehydrogenase (complex II), cytochrome bc1 (complex III) and finally to cytochrome *c* oxidase (Complex IV; González et al., 2005; Jung et al., 2002; Osellame et al., 2012; Palmer et al., 2011). Movement of electrons along the electron transport chain reduces electron free energy with a decrease in the redox potential of their carriers (Osellame et al., 2012). Oxygen at complex IV with a high redox potential picks up the electrons and forms water (González et al., 2005). The structure, content, and function of the mitochondria are thus most important in determining the efficiency of muscle metabolism (Erlich et al., 2016). Therefore, changes in mitochondrial structure can reduce mitochondrial bioenergetics, influencing muscle metabolism post-mortem.



Figure 1: Schematic diagram of the mitochondria electron transport chain

## Mitochondria and meat color

Mitochondria influences meat color development and stability via oxygen consumption and metmyoglobin reducing activity (Tang et al., 2005a). Oxygen consumption by mitochondria competes with myoglobin for oxygen. Thus, increased oxygen consumption can produce dark-colored muscles (McKeith et al., 2016). However, mitochondrial respiration can also provide reducing equivalents necessary for metmyoglobin-reducing activity, promoting color stability (Mitacek et al., 2019). More specifically, electrons available between complex III and IV of the electron transport chain mediate metmyoglobin-reduction (Tang et al., 2005a). Additionally, the reduction of mitochondrial pyridines via reversal electron transport chain can produce NADH needed for metmyoglobin reductase activity (Belskie et al., 2015).

Mitochondrial oxygen consumption varies across muscles and tissues. Madhavi and Carpenter (1993) suggested that the differences in color stability between *semimembranosus* (color stable) and *psoas major* (color labile) are associated with a greater mitochondrial density and oxygen consumption. However, Lanari and Cassens (1991) reported a reverse relationship with relatively greater mitochondrial density and oxygen consumption in muscles of low color stability (*gluteus medius*) compared to color stable *longissimus dorsi*. The authors attributed that greater mitochondrial density and oxygen consumption of the low color stable muscle (*gluteus medius*) to greater enzyme activity. However, Kelly and Scarpulla (2004) suggested that mitochondrial number in cells is regulated in adaptation for changes in metabolic demand. Therefore, muscles with a high-energy demand are more likely to have greater mitochondrial content with lower color stability.

The functionality of mitochondria is important for meat color development and stability. Loss of mitochondria function affects myoglobin stability through reduced regeneration of NADH and metmyoglobin reducing ability (Ramanathan et al., 2012; Tang et al., 2005a). Biochemical changes in mitochondrial electron transport pathways from a

coupled state to an uncoupled state can produce reactive oxygen species (ROS). (Barbour and Turner, 2014; Benedetti et al., 2015; Bonekamp et al., 2015). These ROS can cause oxidation of myoglobin (Ladikos and Lougovois, 1990). Additionally, myoglobin demise by oxidation of lipids within the mitochondrial membrane forming various alkenals, aldehydes, and hydroxyl alkenals, which are highly reactive and cause cytotoxic effects to proteins (Esterbauer et al., 1991; Tang et al., 2005b). Therefore, changes in mitochondrial functionality may influence meat color development and stability by inducing changes in myoglobin structure and functionality.

## Mitochondria and substrates

Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation is influenced by the nature of cellular substrates including fatty acids, proteins, and carbohydrates utilized by the cells. Changes in substrates levels may result in decreased mitochondrial function. (Bendall, 1979; Mancini et al., 2018).

Mitochondria can utilize substrates via a series of catabolic pathways. For example, NADH<sup>+</sup> is oxidized via three sequential coupling sites including complex I, II, and IV while oxidation of FADH<sub>2</sub> involves only complex III and IV (Leverve and Fontaine, 2001). Although NADH is a key substrate for mitochondrial respiration, it is impermeable to the inner mitochondrial membrane. NADH transport into mitochondria thus occurs via malate/aspartate and glycerol-3-phosphate/dihydroxyacetone phosphate shuttle systems (Leverve and Fontaine, 2001). In meat, NADH is a key substrate in determining color stability through non-enzymatic and enzymatic metmyoglobin- reduction processes (Echevarne et al., 1990; Kim et al., 2006). Regeneration of NADH from NAD<sup>+</sup> when added to ground beef, resulting in increased metmyoglobin-reduction (Watts et al. 1966).

Succinate is the main mitochondrial respiratory substrate oxidized by succinate dehydrogenase. Mitochondrial oxygen consumption in presence of succinate as a substrate is high due to the capacity of succinate to enter directly into complex II of the mitochondrial electron transport (Hederstedt, 1999). Several reports have described the role of succinate in mitochondrial function and metmyoglobin-reduction (Ramanathan and Mancini, 2010; Tang et al., 2005a). Wollenman et al. (2017) reported a lower mitochondrial oxygen consumption (20-35 nmol O<sub>2</sub>/mg/min) when using non-succinate substrate combinations compared with succinate (100-150 nmol O<sub>2</sub>/mg/min).

Lactate is another important energy substrate in mitochondrial cellular respiration (Pallotta et al., 2004). Mitochondria can utilize extraneous lactate as energy sources increasing cellular respiration and oxygen consumption (De Bari et al., 2004). Lactate is transported into the mitochondria by monocarboxylic transporters, where it is oxidized to pyruvate under catalysis of lactate dehydrogenase, producing NADH (Atlante et al., 2007; Brooks et al., 1999; Passarella et al., 2014). Pyruvate is another mitochondrial substrate mainly oxidized via the tricarboxylic acid cycle and electron transport chain (De Bari et al., 2004). Therefore, substrates utilized by the mitochondrial can modify mitochondrial respiration.

#### Relationship between mitochondria and myoglobin function

Several reports have described the relationship between mitochondria and myoglobin function (Lanari and Cassens, 1991; Tang et al., 2005b; Postnikova et al., 2009; Ramanathan and Mancini, 2018). Myoglobin is loosely bound to the lipid layer in the outer mitochondrial membrane (Criddle 1969). The association of myoglobin with the mitochondrial membrane allows transfer of molecular oxygen to mitochondrial enzymes, facilitating mitochondrial respiration.

Myoglobin functions as an oxygen reservoir and carrier in body systems (Jürgens et al., 2000; Mancini and Ramanathan, 2014). The structural arrangement of oxymyoglobin facilitates oxygen release in cells (Wittenberg and Wittenberg, 2003). The exchange of oxygen between oxymyoglobin and mitochondria occurs at the mitochondrial outer membrane when the oxygen partial pressures are between 2-5mm Hg (Postnikova et al., 2009). The increase in oxygen flux into mitochondrial cells results from a greater mitochondrial cytochrome *c* oxidase affinity for oxygen than myoglobin's affinity to bind oxygen. (Sidell 1998). Thus, increased mitochondrial competition for oxygen can limit development of a cherry bright-red colored muscle. However, mitochondria's capacity to function effectively depends on myoglobin's ability to provide molecular oxygen. Therefore, a balanced mitochondrial activity is necessary for enhanced bright and stable red color.

## Proteomic approaches in meat quality research

Comparing changes in protein expression has shown promise in understanding molecular and cellular mechanisms that regulate meat characteristics such as tenderness (Bjarnadóttir et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2014), quality (Lametsch & Bendixen, 2001), and color (Canto et al., 20s15; Joseph et al., 2012; Maheswarappa et al., 2016; Mahmood et al., 2018)). The majority of these proteomic studies have utilized both comparative and expression proteomics approaches. These are usually based on protein separation in at least two dimensions, using a chromatographic or electrophoresis method and then followed by mass spectrometry. Bouley et al. (2004) reported detection of about 500 reproducible protein spots in bovine *semitendinosus* muscles while using two gel electrophoresis (2-DE) and mass spectrometry. The coupling of 2-DE techniques with MS is for large scale identification of protein mixtures and analysis of differential protein expression between two or more samples.

As mentioned above, possible relationships between meat color and differential protein expression have been mostly characterized in 2-DE proteomic studies. Greater abundance of antioxidant proteins and chaperones proteins were observed in color-stable muscles compared to color-liable muscles (Joseph et al. 2012). In addition, Nair et al. (2016) observed a positive correlation between creatine kinase M-type and triosephosphate isomerase with metmyoglobin reducing activity; while Canto et al. (2015) noted an over-abundance of myofibrillar proteins (Myosin regulatory light chain 2 and myosin light 1/3) in color-stable compared with color-labile muscles.

While several studies have utilized 2-DE in differential proteomics, new techniques for measuring differential protein expression have been developed. These involve incorporation of non-perturbed protein extracts with different stable isotopes mostly with carbon and nitrogen (Pratt et al., 2002). Tandem mass tag labeling for example was employed by Yu et al. 2017 to quantify phospho-proteomic differences among muscles of different color stability. Utilizing a combination of proteomic methods, we may be able to understand molecular mechanisms that underlay the occurrence of dark-cutting beef.

# Conclusion

The occurrence of dark-cutting phenotype in meat is associated with elevated pH levels resulting from depletion of glycogen post-mortem. The high ultimate pH influences the biochemical and physical properties of post-mortem dark-cutting beef. However, the mechanistic basis for the occurrence is still unknown. Despite increased applications of proteomics tools in understanding post-mortem metabolism, limited research has characterized the proteomic profile expressional and mitochondrial functional differences between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef (high pH beef). Therefore, the overall objective of this research was to characterize protein expression and mitochondrial functional differences between normal-pH and high-pH beef, to better understand the molecular and mechanistic basis for the occurrence of dark-cutting phenotype.

# CHAPTER II

# DIFFERENTIAL PROTEIN EXPRESSION OF NORMAL-PH AND DARK-CUTTING BEEF

Frank Kiyimba<sup>1</sup>, Steven D. Hartson<sup>2</sup>, Janet Rogers<sup>2</sup>, Deborah L. VanOverbeke<sup>1</sup>, Gretchen G. Mafi<sup>1</sup>, and Ranjith Ramanathan<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Animal and Food Sciences, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078, USA

<sup>2</sup>Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Ok 74078, USA.

# Abstract

Dark cutting beef is a meat quality defect in which meat does not display a marketable brightred color due to high post-mortem muscle pH. Various proteins are involved in post-mortem muscle pH development, and the mechanistic basis for greater muscle pH is not clear. Biochemical properties and differentially expressed proteins (DEPs) of normal-pH and darkcutting beef were analyzed using LC-MS/MS mass spectrometry-based proteomics. Mass spectrometry analysis identified 1,162 proteins. Of these, 92 proteins were significantly differentially expressed between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef samples (P <0.05). We identified 52 of the 92 proteins whose expression levels changed (by  $\geq$  1.3 fold). Of these, 27 were up-regulated and 25 were down-regulated in dark-cutting beef. Upregulated proteins were involved in mitochondrial function, muscle contraction, and mitophagy while down-regulated proteins were involved in glycogen and energy reserve metabolism processes and associated with phosphorylase kinase activity, calmodulin, and polysaccharide binding molecular functions. The results suggest that increased abundance of mitochondrial proteins and lower expression of glycogen and energy metabolism may be responsible for greater muscle-pH and associated dark meat color.

Keywords: Dark-cutting, Proteomics, Mass spectrometry, Meat color, Bioinformatics

# Introduction

Meat color is the most important quality attribute determining consumers' purchasing decisions in terms of wholeness and freshness (Faustman & Cassens, 1990; Mancini & Hunt, 2005; Smith et al., 2000). Dark-cutting beef is a meat quality defect in which meat does not display a characteristic bright-red color typical in normal-pH beef when the cut surface is exposed to oxygen (Apple et al., 2011; McKeith et al., 2016; Wills et al., 2017). The color of meat is primarily determined by myoglobin. Depending on the redox state and ligand-bound, myoglobin can exist in oxy-, deoxy- or metmyoglobin producing bright-red, purple, or brown, respectively (AMSA, 2012). Therefore, development of bright-red color in meat is highly dependent on the extent of myoglobin oxygenation.

The typical dark-red color in dark-cutting beef is associated with post-mortem muscle pH greater than 5.8 (Ashmore et al., 1971; Ponnampalam et al., 2017; Wulf et al., 2002). Various researchers noted that dark-cutting beef has lower glycogen content compared with normal-pH beef (Mahmood et al., 2018). Further, depletion of muscle glycogen ante-mortem reduces muscle metabolism and pH decline (Chauhan and England, 2018; England et al., 2015; Li et al., 2017; Shen and Du, 2005). Previous research also noted that high ultimate muscle pH could sustain mitochondrial function post-mortem, influencing myoglobin redox stability via oxygen consumption (Ashmore et al., 1971). Hence, greater mitochondrial oxygen consumption can promote myoglobin deoxygenation, producing dark-colored meat.

The evidence for the model that the occurrence of dark-cutting beef is due to depleted glycogen ante-mortem is primarily based on a high post-mortem muscle pH greater than normal. However, the mechanistic basis for the occurrence is still not clear. Several mitochondrial and glycolytic proteins are involved in muscle metabolism and pH decline (Bowker et al., 2004; Chauhan and England, 2018; Estrade et al., 1994; Newbold and Scopes, 1971). For example, a decrease in abundance of phospho-fructose kinase (PFK) and lactate

dehydrogenase B (LDH-B) is associated with a slow post-mortem pH decline (Canto et al., 2015; Jerez-Timaure et al., 2019; Nair et al., 2016). A recent study suggested that atypical darkcutting beef (based on Canadian beef grading system) had defective glycolytic enzymes compared with normal colored beef (Mahmood et al., 2018).

Despite increased applications of proteomics tools in understanding post-mortem metabolism, limited research has evaluated the protein expression profiles of normal-pH vs dark-cutting beef. Therefore, the objective of the current research was to characterize protein profiles of normal- and high-pH beef *longissimus* muscle.

# **Materials and Methods**

## Materials and reagents

Corning Costar 96 well black flat-bottomed polystyrene plates, trypsin, guanidine-HCL, chloroacetamide (CAA), tryptophan, HEPES, tris-hydroxymethyl aminomethane hydrochloride (Tis-HCL) was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemicals CO. (St. Louis, MO). All chemicals were of reagent analytical grade or greater.

# Characterizing the biochemical properties of normal-pH and dark- cutting beef

Six USDA Low Choice and six dark cutting (no-roll) beef strip loins (IMPS #180, NAMP, 2002) were purchased from Tyson Fresh Beef Plant in Amarillo, TX, within 3 d of harvest. Care was taken to avoid variation between loins within each pH category, and the average pH of loins were 5.6 and 6.4 for normal-pH and dark-cutting, respectively. Loins were transported on ice to Oklahoma State University, Food and Agricultural Products Center. Following arrival, three 2.54-cm thick steaks were cut from the anterior end of each loin and randomly assigned for analyses. The first steak was assigned to proteomic analysis and mitochondrial content determination, the second steak was assigned to measure color and to

determine biochemical properties of steaks, and the third steak was used to determine pH and proximate composition.

Mitochondrial protein content was determined utilizing differential centrifugation on fresh tissue according to method of Ke et al. (2017). Fresh-cut surface of each steak was allowed to oxygenate at 4 °C for 2 h. The surface color was measured using a HunterLab MiniScan XE Plus spectrophotometer (HunterLab Associates, Reston, VA) with a 2.5 cm diameter aperture, Illuminant A, and 10° standard observer. CIE L\* (indicates lightness/darkness), and a\* (redness)values were used to characterize the surface color. Following surface color measurements, each steak was cut into half. The first half was used to estimate oxygen consumption and the second half was used to determine metmyoglobin reducing activity (Ramanathan et al., 2019). Reflectance approach was utilized to determine oxygen consumption and metmyoglobin reducing activity. pH was recorded using an Accumet 50 pH meter (Fisher Scientific, Fairlawn, NJ), and proximate composition was determined using a NIR-based method (English et al., 2016).

# **Protein extraction**

Freeze-dried skeletal muscle tissue samples of 0.5 g from six (n = 6) normal-pH and six (n = 6) dark-cutting beef were extracted in 5 mL of lysis buffer (6 M guanidine hydrochloride, 100 mM HEPES, 50 mM chloroacetamide (CCA), 10 mM TRIS (2-carboxyethyl)phosphine TCEP, pH 8.0 ). Tissue lysates were homogenized using a small tissue teaser (Model 985370-395, Biospec product, INC) for 2 min. Subsequently, homogenized tissue sample slurry was boiled for 10 min in a water bath and cooled down to room temperature. Cooled samples were sonicated in a bioruptor diagenode at high setting with 30 s on, 30 s off cycles for 15 min. Subsequently, sonicated tissue lysates were centrifuged at 10,000 g at room temperature for 10 min. Extracted samples were kept at -80°C for further analysis.

# **Protein concentration**

Protein concertation was determined using a tryptophan fluorescence standard assay according to Wišniewski and Gaugaz (2015) with minor modifications. Stocks of tryptophan standard were prepared in guanidine lysis buffer (guanidine hydrochloride, 100 mM HEPES, 50 mM chloroacetamide (CCA) and 10 mM TRIS- (2-carboxyethyl) phosphine TCEP, pH 8.0), and diluted before analysis. The fluorescence of the whole protein samples was measured using a Corning Costar 96 well black flat-bottomed polystyrene plate (Sigma-Aldrich, CLS3915). Protein lysates and standards were directly spiked into the 96 well plate prefilled with 200 μL of lysis buffer. Fluorescence was excited at 295 nm, and the emission was recorded at 350 nm using a microplate reader SpectraMax M<sub>3</sub> (Molecular Devices, LLC. San Jose, CA, USA). The microplate reader was installed with the tryptophan fluorescence block programmed to shake the plate at 25°C for 15 s and resting for 2 s. Protein concentration was calculated (assuming 0.0117 g of tryptophan per gram of total protein).

# Protein digestion and peptide mass spectrometry analysis

Tryptic peptides from extracted crude protein lysates were generated using a fast aided sample preparation method (FASAP) as described previously by Wiśniewski, et al. (2009). Samples were digested with 4  $\mu$ g/mL trypsin/Lys-C (Promega V5072) overnight at 37°C, with an additional 2  $\mu$ g/mL of protease, and samples digestion were continued for another 8 h. Digested normal-pH and dark-cutting beef trypsinolytic peptides were acidified to 1% trifluoroacetic acid. Trypsinolytic peptides were then purified by solid-phase extraction with C18 affinity media (Agilent OMIX tips) and analyzed on an LTQ-Orbitrap mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific) coupled to a New Objective PV-550 Nano-electrospray ion source and Eksigent NanoLC-2D chromatography with a vented trap column configuration as previously described by Voruganti et al. (2018).

# **Database searching**

MaxQuant (V1.5.3.8) was used to perform peak analysis and searching the generated raw LC-MS/MS data files against a reference proteome database of 23,968 bovine proteome sequences downloaded from Uniprot in March of 2018. Default MaxQuant settings were used with the addition of a match between runs (Cox et al., 2009). These parameters were as follows: full trypsin specificity with no more than two missed cleavages allowed, carbamidomethylation of cysteine as a fixed modification, and oxidation of methionine as the variable modification. The precursor ion mass tolerance of 20 ppm and a fragment ion mass tolerance of 0.3 Da was used for all MS/MS spectra obtained. The sequence of common contaminates was included in the searches.

Label-free quantification (LFQ) intensity data files were analyzed using Perseus software (V.1.6.3.3). Protein groups were filtered for potential contaminants. Fold changes of the differentially expressed proteins were filtered out on a volcano plot using a t-Test. Significant changes of protein expression were determined at cut off of  $P \le 0.05$  of the log2 expression values. A parameter power calculation analysis with a targeted statistical power of 80% (https://www.dssresearch.com/knowledgeCenter/toolkitcalculators/statisticalpowercalculator. aspx) was used to determine the magnitude of change in protein expression between dark-cutting and normal-pH beef that could be validated for 6 samples, to enable bioinformatics pipeline analysis.

# **Bioinformatics analysis of the differentially expressed proteins (DEPs)**

The proteomic results were analyzed by multiple approaches. David version 6.8 (https://david.ncifcrf.org/) was utilized to classify gene ontology enrichment analysis of the functional categories of DEPs. In addition, the Go database was used to identify the subcellular locations of the differentially expressed proteins. The background list for go-analysis comprised of a gene list of all proteins quantified in both normal-pH and dark-cutting beef

samples to avoid sampling bias. Cytoscape (V.3.7.1; <u>https://cytoscape.org/</u>) was employed to query the STRING plugin database of protein-protein interaction (PPI), and the nodes of the subnetworks were used to create protein-protein interaction networks of the corresponding DEPs up-and down-regulated in dark-cutting beef relative to normal- pH beef. Key pathways involved in post-mortem metabolism (glycogen metabolism and mitochondrial electron transport) pathways were analyzed using the wiki pathway and visualized in Cytoscape (V.3.7.1; <u>https://cytoscape.org/</u>).

# Non-specific peptide cleavage searching to differentiate in-situ versus trypsinolytic proteolysis

To determine differences in non-specific peptide cleavage/in-vivo proteolysis in normalpH and dark-cutting beef, non-specific cleavage peptide mapping and fragmentation analyses were compared. Collected raw data files generated from the differential protein expression study were loaded into MaxQuant (V1.6.2.10), and semi-specific trypsin cleavage searching was done. Search parameters were set as follows: semi-trypsin specificity with no more than two missed cleavages allowed, carbamidomethylation of cysteine as a fixed modification, and oxidation of methionine as a variable modification. The precursor ion mass tolerance of 20 ppm and a fragment ion mass tolerance of 0.3 Da was used for all MS/MS spectra obtained. Generated semi-specific trypsin cleavage raw data file intensities were normalized and imported into Perseus (V1.6.2.1). Peptide intensity ratios were calculated to avoid the domination of the data by only the major peptides. Calculated ratios were kept separate for all the six samples for statistical analysis. Combined median peptide intensity ratios were then determined, and a 1-sample t-test was calculated. Significant changes of peptide intensities were determined at cut off of P  $\leq$  0.05 of the log2 expression values.

# **Statistical Analysis**

A completely randomized block design was utilized to determine the effects on meat color and biochemical parameters. Each loin served as a block. The fixed effect included normal-pH and dark-cutting beef, and the random effect included loin. The data were analyzed using the Mixed Procedure of SAS. Least square means were separated using the PDIFF option and were considered significant at P < 0.05. For the proteomics analyses, details included in the previous section.

# Results

# Biochemical properties of normal-pH and dark-cutting beef

The biochemical properties and mitochondrial content in normal-pH and dark-cutting beef are summarized in Table 1. Consistent with previous findings, dark cutting beef had a greater pH (P < 0.001) than normal-pH beef (X = 6.3, SD 0.06). However, the increase in muscle pH can affect color (lower L\* values/lightness), redness (lower a\* values), which had lower values (P < 0.001) and oxygen consumption, and metmyoglobin-reducing activity which had greater values (P < 0.05) compared with normal-pH beef. In addition, dark-cutting beef had greater (P < 0.05) mitochondrial content than normal-pH beef.

# Protein identification and differentially expressed proteins (DEPs)

To characterize the differences in protein expression between normal-pH and darkcutting beef, proteomic expression profiles were measured. The proteomic analysis yielded 1,162 proteins quantified from in normal-pH and dark-cutting beef samples. The t-test revealed that 92 proteins (11.06 % of the total 832 proteins remaining after data filtering) showed significant changes in expression at a cutoff of  $P \le 0.05$  (Figure 2 A and 2 B). Out of the 92 DEPs, 53.3% were up-regulated, while 46.7% were down-regulated in dark-cutting beef (Figure 2 C).
To assess what magnitude of change in protein expression that could be validated for 6 samples, we utilized a power analysis calculation with a target of 80%. Results revealed validation of changes in protein expression between < 0.77 to > 1.3 (Log2 +/-0.3). Using this cutoff, 51 proteins (55.4% of the 92 DEPs proteins) showed changes in expression with a magnitude of 1.3 at P-value cut-off of 0.05 (Figure 2 D). Out of these 51 DEPs, 27 (52.9%) were up-regulated while 25 (47.1%) were down-regulated in dark-cutting beef (Figure 2D).

#### Gene ontology analysis of the differentially expressed proteins (DEPs)

To determine the biological process of DEPs in normal-pH compared with dark-cutting beef and to understand the pathways affected (Kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes; KEGG), we conducted a Go-analysis. The DEPs up-regulated in dark-cutting beef were enriched (P < 0.001) in oxidation-reduction, muscle contraction, mitophagy in response to mitochondrial depolarization, positive regulation of protein secretion and chaperone-mediated protein folding processes (Figure 3A). The DEPs down-regulated in dark-cutting beef were enriched (P < 0.001) in glycogen metabolic process, cellular glucan metabolic process, energy reserve metabolic process, glycogen, and glucan biosynthetic processes (Figure 3B). These results suggest that dark-cutting beef has a defective energy metabolism.

Similarly, Go analysis for molecular function indicated that up-regulated proteins in dark-cutting beef were enriched (P < 0.001) in metal ion binding, zinc ion binding, protein homodimerization, and electron carrier activities (Figure 3C). While DEPs down-regulated in dark-cutting beef were enriched (P < 0.001) in phosphorylase kinase activity, calmodulin-binding, calmodulin-dependent protein kinase activity, protein kinase activity, polysaccharide binding and phosphotransferase activity (alcohol accepter) molecular functions (Figure 3D). This comparison shows that the defects in energy metabolism in dark-cutting beef may be due to decreased expression of phosphorylases which are key in regulating energy metabolic pathways.

For cellular compartmentalization, DEPs upregulated in dark-cutting beef were located in the nucleus, mitochondrial membrane, sarcolemma, intercalated disc (Figure 3E) while DEPs down-regulated in dark-cutting beef were located in phosphorylase kinase complex, serine/threonine kinase complex, protein kinase complex and transferase complex-transferring phosphorous contain groups (Figure 3F). In addition, the results revealed that DEPs upregulated in dark-cutting beef were involved in metabolic, oxidative phosphorylation, tricarboxylic acid cycle, and tight junction (Figure 3 G) while DEPs down-regulated in darkcutting beef were mostly involved in calcium signaling, glucagon signaling, and insulin signaling KEGG pathways (Figure 3 H). On the basis of the above ontologies, results suggest an increased expression of mitochondrial and decreased expression of glycolytic metabolic proteins in dark-cutting beef.

#### Protein-protein interaction networks in the DEPs

In order to visualize the possible protein-protein interaction networks between the up and down-regulated DEPs in dark-cutting beef, we performed a protein-protein interaction network analysis using the STRING database and visualized the networks in Cytoscape (Figure 4). AutoAnotation of protein subnetworks revealed that the interactions among the up-regulated DEPs in dark-cutting beef were mostly related with muscle contraction (Figure 4A) and mitochondrial electron transport chain (Figure 3 C). Similarly, the interactions among the DEPs down-regulated in dark-cutting beef were mostly related with glycogen metabolism (Figure 3 B). Mitochondrial and glycolytic pathways were significantly enriched (P < 0.05). This thus suggests that the two pathways may play a part in the development of dark-cutting beef.

#### DEPs involved in glycogen metabolism and mitochondrial electron transport chain

To further determine the extent to which changes in protein expression induced by the dark-cutting condition affect muscle metabolic pathways (glycolytic and mitochondrial pathways), we performed a pathway analysis using the wiki pathway and visualized in Cytoscape. The results showed that DEPs up-regulated in dark-cutting beef, including NADH: Ubiquinone oxidoreductase subunit A2 (Ndufa2), Succinate dehydrogenase [Ubiquinone] flavoprotein subunit, mitochondrial (Sdha), Succinate dehydrogenase complex iron-sulfur subunit B (Sdhb), cytochrome *c* oxidase subunit 6A2 (Cox6a2), and ATP synthase membrane subunit e (Atp5me), where specifically located in the mitochondrial electron transport chain pathway (Figure 5).

On the other hand, DEPs down-regulated in dark-cutting beef including amylo-alpha-1-6glucosidase, 4-alpha-glucotransferase (Agl), glycogen phosphorylase, muscle (Pygm), phosphorylase b kinase regulatory subunit beta (Phkb), non-specific serine/threonine protein kinase (Prkaa1), phosphorylase kinase regulatory subunit gamma (Phkg1), Bisphosphoglycerate mutase (Pgm1), and phosphorylase kinase regulatory subunit alpha (Phka1), were specifically located in the glycolytic metabolic pathway (Figure 6). These data, suggest involvement of defective glycogen metabolism and increased mitochondrial electron transport chain activity in the development of the dark-cutting phenotype.

# Non-specific peptide cleavage searching to differentiate in-situ versus trypsinolytic proteolysis

To determine differences in non-specific peptide cleavage/in-vivo proteolyis in normalpH and dark-cutting beef, non-specific cleavage peptide mapping and fragmentation analyses were compared. We hypothesized that dark-cutting beef has more non-specific cleavage peptides compared to normal-pH beef. The intensity of all observed trypisonlytic cleavaged peptides was compared to non-trypsin N-and C-terminus cleavaged peptides between normalpH and dark-cutting beef samples. Results showed that there were no significant differences (P > 0.05) in the intensity ratios of non-specific cleavaged (N-and C-terminus) peptides between normal-pH and dark- cutting beef (Figure 7). Thus, this result suggests that the level of in-vivo proteolysis/ protein degradation is similar in normal-pH and dark-cutting beef.

#### Discussion

#### Color and biochemical properties

It has been suggested that dark-cutting beef has lower L\* (darker color) and a\*(redness) values compared with normal-pH (Apple et al., 2011; Hunt and Hedrick, 1977). In agreement, our results showed lower L\* and a\* values in dark-cutting beef samples. The decrease in surface color characteristics of dark-cutting beef can be attributed to the influence of high muscle pH (Table 1). Increased muscle pH can enhance the activity of enzymes involved in oxygen consumption (Ramanathan and Mancini, 2010; Tang et al., 2005a) and metmyoglobin reducing activity. Thus, this may in part explain the observable differences in muscle biochemical properties between dark-cutting and normal-pH beef.

#### Differential protein profiles of normal-pH and dark-cutting beef

Our data suggest that dark-cutting beef has impaired glycolytic metabolism. Consistent with this observation, dark-cutting beef had enrichment of down-regulated proteins in glycogen metabolism. Additionally, pathway analysis showed that DEPs including; glycogen phosphorylase, phosphoglycerate mutase, phosphorylase kinase regulatory subunit alpha, beta and gamma, and non-specific serine/threonine-protein kinase were specifically located in the glycogen degradation pathway (Figure 6). However, the role played by these proteins in the occurrence of dark-cutting beef has not yet been described.

Previous studies examining post-mortem metabolism have demonstrated that the etiology of dark-cutting beef is connected to low glycogen content and glycosidic potential (Ponnampalam et al., 2017; Xing et al., 2019). While down-regulation of glycolytic proteins is not definitive proof for the occurrence of dark-cutting beef, from our data we conclude that reduced expression of glycolytic enzymes can influence muscle glycogen content. Downregulated DEPs such as glycogen phosphorylase initiates glycogen degradation pathways by creating phosphoroelastic cleavages in glycogen (Komoda and Matsunaga, 2015). Therefore, down-regulation of glycolytic metabolic proteins can reduce the muscle's capacity to mobilize glycogen, and the ability to accumulate lactate post-mortem. Thus, this may explain the high muscle pH typically associated with dark-cutting muscles.

In addition, our data suggest that dark-cutting beef has an increased mitochondrial metabolism supported by greater expression of mitochondrial electron transport proteins. Results showed that up-regulated proteins in dark-cutting beef were enriched in the mitochondria electron transport chain. These up-regulated mitochondrial enzymes including; NADH: Ubiquinone oxidoreductase subunit A2, succinate dehydrogenase (Ubiquinone) flavoprotein subunit, succinate dehydrogenase complex iron-sulfur subunit B, ATP synthase membrane subunit e and cytochrome c oxidase subunit 6A2 were specifically located in the mitochondria electron transport chain pathway (Figure 6). However, the exact mechanisms and functional links between these proteins to the occurrence of the dark-cutting phenotype are yet to be described.

The greater expression of mitochondrial transport chain proteins in dark-cutting beef may suggest increased mitochondrial respiration. The increase in mitochondrial respiration coupled with ATP production could be for supporting high-energy consuming metabolic processes including glycogen break down (Timmons, & Greenhaff, 2005), calcium homeostasis (Baughman et al., 2011; Chaudhuri et al., 2013 and Kirichok et al., 2004), biosynthesis of heme and steroids (Nilsson et al., 2009). However, the increase in mitochondrial respiration increase oxygen consumption which in turn may increase competition for oxygen with myoglobin (Ramanathan and Mancini 2018; Wittenberg and Wittenberg, 1981). Therefore, deoxygenation of myoglobin can produce a darker red color in meat (Suman & Joseph, 2013; Tang et al., 2005a). Additionally, the increase in mitochondrial functionality is associated with increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). These are mostly generated for signaling and

defense (Cunningham et al., 2015; Simioni et al., 2018). However, ROS can oxidize myoglobin increasing myoglobin deoxygenation and hence muscle darkening.

## Determination of non-specific peptide cleavage to differentiate in-situ versus

#### trypsinolytic proteolysis

While evaluating differences in non-specific peptide cleavage, we hypothesized that the number of non-specific cleavage peptides is greater in dark-cutting beef compared to normalpH beef. However, results showed no differences in in-situ proteolysis between dark-cutting and normal pH beef (Figure 7). Non-specific cleaved products have been reported as byproducts of enzymatic digestions and are detected by mass spectrometry (König et al., 2001). Detection of nonspecific peptide cleavages is a reflection of protein degradation in-situ. Additionally, the increase in abundance of these peptides is a common signal for heat shock proteins (HSP) induction (Picard et al. 2018). Heat shock and chaperone proteins are important in protein repairs and correction of misfolded proteins (Xing et al., 2019). Therefore, the increase in expression of such proteins is indicative of in-situ proteolysis. Thus, in-situ proteolytic mechanism is similar between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef.

#### Conclusion

Dark-cutting beef had lower redness, darker color, and greater oxygen consumption compared with normal-pH beef. Greater pH can be attributed to the down-regulation of glycolytic proteins such as Epm2a, Agl, Pygm, Phkb, Prkaa1, Phkg1, Bpgm and Phka1. Further, mitochondrial proteins such as Ndufa2, Sdha, Sdhb, Mdh1, Cox6a2, Coq8a, Atp5me, and Echs1 were up-regulated in dark-cutting beef than normal-pH beef. The results suggest that greater mitochondrial activity and higher pH can be conducive for enhanced oxygen consumption and less oxygenation of myoglobin.



Figure 2: Identification and quantification of differentially expressed proteins in dark-cutting beef compared with normal-pH beef.

Differences in protein expression between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef were analyzed using LC-MS/MS mass spectrometry-based proteomics. Fold changes of the differentially expressed proteins were filtered out on a volcano plot using a t-Test. Significant changes in protein expression were determined at cut off of  $P \le 0.05$  of the log2 expression values. (A) Volcano plot of log2 transformed protein expression changes against a -log of the P-value from t-test of dark-cutting beef compared with normal-pH beef. Significantly changed ( $P \le 0.05$ ) proteins are represented by red dots and insignificantly changed proteins are represented in black. (B) Christmas tree plot showing the log2 of differentially expressed proteins (DEPs) up-and down-regulated in dark-cutting beef against a log2 expression intensity. (C) Number of up-regulated (red) and down-regulated (green) proteins in dark-cutting beef. (D) Number of up-

regulated (red) and down-regulated proteins (green) with  $\geq$  1.3-fold change in protein expression.



Figure 3: Functional enrichment analysis of the differentially expressed proteins

Proteins that had their expression significantly altered by the dark-cutting condition were analyzed for functional enrichment of Go processes using David. The background list used comprised of a list of all proteins identified and quantified in dark-cutting and normal-pH beef samples. Panels (A, B) enrichment analysis of biological process, (C, D) enrichment analysis of molecular functions, (E, F) enrichment analysis of cellular compartment and (G, H) enrichment analysis of KEGG pathways (P  $\leq$  0.05). The bigger the slice, the greater the Pvalue.



Figure 4: Enrichment of protein-protein interaction subnetworks of differentially expressed proteins in dark-cutting beef

Proteins that were significantly expressed in dark-cutting beef were used to query the STRING protein-protein database using Cytoscape. Protein subnetworks with more than 10 proteins were Annotated using the AutoAnnotation Plugin and visualized in Cytoscape. The changes in protein expression (up and down-regulated) in dark-cutting beef were then mapped onto the nodes. A) protein-protein interaction subnetwork of DEPS involved in muscle contraction. B) Protein-protein interaction subnetwork of DEPs involved in glycolytic metabolism. C) Protein-protein interaction subnetwork of DEPs involved in mitochondrial respiratory transport chain. The red color represents up-regulated proteins while the green color indicates down-regulated proteins. The bigger the size, the greater the fold change.



Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain

1.5

Figure 5: Representation of differentially expressed proteins (DEPs) in dark-cutting beef that are involved in the mitochondrial respiratory electron transport pathway

The DEPs in dark-cutting beef with significant change in expression were used to query the wiki mitochondrial electron transport chain pathway

for enrichment and visualized in Cytoscape. The red color represents up-regulated DEPs that were enrichment in the mitochondrial electron transport chain pathway P < 0.05.

Glycogen Metabolism



Figure 6: Representation differentially expressed proteins (DEPs) in dark-cutting beef involved in glycogen metabolism pathway The DEPs in dark-cutting beef with significant change in expression were used to query the wiki glycogen metabolism pathway for enrichment and visualized in Cytoscape. The red color represents up-regulated DEPs while the green color represents down-regulated DEPs that were enrichment glycogen metabolism pathway.



Figure 7: Non-specific peptide cleavage analysis to validate the differential abundance of active proteolytic degradation in-situ in dark-cutting beef compared with normal-pH

Digestion of proteins is usually performed using trypsin due to its high specificity at the C-terminal to Lysine and Arginine. Non-specific peptide analysis is used as an indicator of pre-existing protein fragmentation in-vivo. We utilized non-specific peptide cleavages analysis to understand

the potential differences in in-vivo proteolysis between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef samples. The ratio of non-specific cleavaged peptides was compared with trypsin- peptide

a-b, Least square means with different letters are different (P  $\leq$  0.05).

## CHAPTER III

### MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTION DIFFERENCES IN NORMAL-pH AND DARK-CUTTING

BEEF

•

#### Abstract

Mitochondria remain active post-mortem and can influence meat color. However, limited research has characterized the functionality of mitochondria isolated from normal-pH and dark-cutting beef (high pH beef). Mitochondrial complex I, II, and IV functionality, state III- and IV-oxygen consumption, mitochondrial membrane integrity, and uncoupled respiration rate in normal-pH and dark-cutting beef were determined using a Clark-oxygen electrode. Mitochondria respiratory control ratio (RCR) and number of moles of adenosine diphosphate (ADP) phosphorylated by moles of oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>; ADP/O ratio) were also determined. Darkcutting beef had greater (P < 0.05) mitochondrial complex II respiration, state III oxygen consumption, uncoupled respiration, RCR, and a lower ADP/O ratio compared with normal-pH beef. However, no differences in mitochondrial complexes I and IV respiration, state IV oxygen consumption, and membrane integrity (P > 0.05) were observed between normal-pH and darkcutting beef. The results suggest that there are differences in mitochondrial functional properties between dark-cutting and normal-pH mitochondria, and this, in part, can contribute to darker meat color.

**Keywords:** Mitochondria, myoglobin, oxygen consumption, meat color, Clark electrode, darkcutting beef

#### Introduction

A characteristic bright-red color during beef grading and at the retail display is important to maximize the economic benefits associated with the sale of beef. Any deviation from brightred color can lead to economic losses to the meat industry (Smith et al., 2000). Predominant oxymyoglobin at the cut surface gives bright-red color, while deoxymyoglobin gives darkermeat color (AMSA, 2012).

Interaction between mitochondria and myoglobin is a key determinant of meat color (Lanari and Cassens, 1991; Tang et al., 2005b; Postnikova et al., 2009; Ramanathan and Mancini, 2018). Physiologically, myoglobin and mitochondrial functions are inter-related, and both involve cellular homeostasis. In post-mortem muscle, mitochondria remain functional influencing myoglobin redox state (Tang et al., 2005b; Ashmore et al., 1971). For example, addition of substrates such as succinate or lactate to oxymyoglobin-mitochondria mixture resulted in more deoxymyoglobin or limited myoglobin oxygenation (Giorgi-Coll et al., 2017). Therefore, actively respiring mitochondria can limit myoglobin oxygenation .

In post-mortem muscle, diffusion from the atmosphere is the main source of oxygen. Various processes such as mitochondrial oxygen consumption, microbial growth, protein- and lipid oxidation compete for the available oxygen (Ramanathan and Mancini, 2018; Tang et al., 2005b). However, on a freshly cut surface, competition between mitochondria and myoglobin determines the formation of bright-red color. Numerous factors such as pH, temperature, and substrate concentration can determine mitochondrial activity ( De Bari et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2006; Ramanathan et al., 2009). Hence, any deviation in post-mortem biochemistry can influence mitochondrial activity and its impact on meat color.

Dark-cutting beef has a worldwide occurrence, and chronic stress before slaughter has been attributed to high-pH postmortem (Mahmood et al., 2018; Ponnampalam et al., 2017; Wulf et al., 2002). Dark-cutting beef has aberrant glycolytic enzyme activity, leading to greater than normal-pH (Mahmood et al., 2018). Further, McKeith et al. (2016) reported that darkcutting beef had less efficient mitochondria. More specifically, dark-cutting beef mitochondria generated more reactive oxygen species compared with normal-pH beef. However, mitochondria isolated from both epinephrine-injected dark-cutting (experimentally-induced) and normal-pH muscle had similar mitochondrial function properties (Ashmore et al., 1971). However, limited research is available on mitochondrial functional properties of naturally occurring dark-cutting conditions. Therefore, the objective of the current study was to evaluate mitochondrial functional differences in normal-pH and dark-cutting beef by accessing mitochondrial respiration at complex I, II, and IV, state III- and IV- oxygen consumption rate, mitochondrial membrane integrity and uncoupled respiration using a Clark oxygen type electrode.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### **Materials and Chemicals**

Trypsin, Sucrose, HEPES, EDTA, Tris-HCl, potassium chloride, bovine serum albumin (BSA), rotenone, antimycin A, succinic acid, glutamate, malate, magnesium chloride, potassium monophosphate, adenosine diphosphate (ADP), cytochrome C, trypsin, N,N,N,N-tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine dihydrochloride (TMPD) and L-ascorbic acid were all obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemicals CO. (St. Louis, MO). Carbonyl cyanide 4-(trifluoromethoxy) phenylhydrazone (FCCP) was obtained from Cayman Chemicals (Ann Arbor, MI). All chemicals were of reagent analytical grade or greater.

#### Mitochondrial Isolation and protein quantification

Eleven Normal-pH and 11 dark-cutting beef loins (*longissimus lumborum*; IMPS #180, NAMP, 2002) from maturity carcasses were obtained 72-h post-mortem from Creekstone Farms, Arkansas City, KS at two different occasions (five normal-pH and dark-cutting loins

during first time and six normal-pH and dark-cutting loins during the second time). Loins were transported on ice, and upon arrival, three 2.54-cm-thick steaks were cut from the anterior end of loin. The first steak was utilized for color and biochemical analysis, the second steak was utilized for mitochondrial studies, and the third steak was used to determine pH and proximate compositions.

#### **Color characteristics and biochemical properties**

Fresh-cut surface of each steak was placed on a styrofoam tray overwrapped with PVC film (oxygen-permeable polyvinyl chloride fresh meat film; 15,500 to 16,275 cm<sup>3</sup> O<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> 24h<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> at 23 °C, E-Z Wrap Crystal Clear Polyvinyl Chloride Wrapping Film, Koch Supplies, Kansas City, MO) and were allowed to oxygenate at 4 °C for 2 h. Surface color was measured using a HunterLab MiniScan XE Plus spectrophotometer (HunterLab Associates, Reston, VA) with a 2.5 cm diameter aperture, Illuminant A, and 10° standard observer. Both CIE L\*, a\*, and b\* values and reflectance values from 400 to 700 nm were used to characterize the surface color. Following surface color measurements, each steak was cut into half. The first half was used to estimate oxygen consumption and the second half was utilized to measure pH. Reflectance approach was utilized to determine oxygen consumption. The steak half was bloomed for 1 h at 4 °C. Following blooming, steak section was vacuum packaged and incubated at 25 °C for 30 min. Surface color reading was taken after incubation to measure deoxymyoglobin level to indicate oxygen consumption. A greater deoxymyoglobin indicates greater oxygen consumption. A greater pH in dark-cutting beef can change reflectance properties. Hence a modified method was utilized to measure oxygen consumption (Ramanathan et al., 2019). Reflectance values were converted to K/S ratios at isobestic points to estimate deoxymyoglobin. Reflectance values were converted to K/S ratios using the equation: K/S = $(1 - R)^2 \div 2R$ , where R represents the % reflectance expressed as a decimal. The ratio of K/S  $474 \div \text{K/S}$  525 was used to estimate deoxymyoglobin (AMSA color guide; AMSA, 2012).

The pH of each steak was recorded using an Accumet 50 pH meter (Fisher Scientific, Fairlawn, NJ). Protein, moisture, and fat contents were reported on a percent (%) basis and determined using an AOAC-approved (Official Method 2007.04; Anderson, 2007) near-infrared spectrophotometer (FOSS Food Scan 78800; Dedicated Analytical Solutions, DK-3400 Hillerod, Denmark).

#### **Mitochondrial isolation**

Mitochondria from skeletal muscle were isolated according to the method of Smith (1967) with minor modifications. Five g muscle tissue visibly devoid of fat and connective tissue from each normal-pH and dark-cutting beef loin (n = 11 each) were minced using tissue teaser. Following mincing, samples were suspended in 10 mL ice-cold suspension buffer (250 mM sucrose and 12 mM HEPES, pH 7.4), containing 5  $\mu$ L of proteinase (0.25% (w/v) trypsin) for each 1 mL of suspension buffer in a 250 mL beaker. The beaker containing the tissue suspension mixture was placed in a 500 mL beaker prefilled with ice and stirred gently for 15 min using a glass stirring rod. After stirring, 40 mL of ice-cold mitochondria isolation buffer (67 mM sucrose, 10 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris, 50 mM KCl, and 0.2% bovine serum albumin (BSA), pH 7.4) was added to the suspension mixture, and the pH was readjusted to 7.2.

The samples were homogenized two times; first using a pinpointed glass/Teflon Potter Elvehjem homogenizer and secondly with a round-bottomed glass/Teflon Potter Elvehjem homogenizer, tightly fitted on Potter-Eberbach corporation tissue grinder (Model E7000, Volt 130, St. Belleville, MI) at 160 rpm. The homogenate was then centrifuged at 800 g for 10 min at 4°C using a mini centrifuge (Hermle Z446 series high capacity centrifuge, swing-out rotor, 68\*15 mL or 28 x 50 mL). The pellet was discarded, and the supernatant was decanted through a double-layered cheesecloth. The collected supernatant was then centrifuged at 10,000 g for 10 min at 4°C, and the supernatant was discarded. The mitochondrial pellet was gently resuspended in medium containing 75 mM sucrose, 10 mM Tris and 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.4. Total mitochondrial protein content was determined spectrophotometrically using a Biuret method with BSA as the protein standard.

#### Mitochondrial respiratory activity

Extracted mitochondria were used to assess functional and biochemical parameters of normal-pH and dark-cutting beef using a Clark Oxygen type electrode (DW 1, Hansatech, Norfork, UK, a polarizing voltage of 0.6 V and 8 mL incubation chamber). The reaction chamber was maintained at a reaction temperature of 25°C. A 10 mm Teflon covered bar was used to stir the chamber at 600 rpm. The electrode was attached to a Rank Brothers digital model 20 oxygen controller (Cambridge, England), connected to a personal computer and data logger. For all experiments, mitochondrial oxygen consumption measurements were initiated by suspending 2 mg/mL in 1 mL reaction buffer (250 mM sucrose, 5 mM potassium mono phosphate, 5 mM magnesium chloride, 0.1% BSA, 0.1 mM EDTA and 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4) followed by the addition of test compounds.

Mitochondria from both normal-pH and dark-cutting beef were evaluated for the activity of complex I, II, and IV (Figure 8). After 1 min equilibration period in the incubation chamber, mitochondrial respiration at complex I was initiated by the addition of glutamate (5 mM) and malate (2 mM). Following steady-state respiration, complex I activity was blocked with rotenone (2  $\mu$ M). Mitochondrial oxygen consumption at complex II was then initiated by adding succinate (5 mM)After steady-state respiration, activity was inhibited by the addition of Antimycin A (4  $\mu$ M). Finally, complex IV oxygen consumption was determined by adding ascorbate (6 mM) and TMPD (300  $\mu$ M).

#### **Determination of RCR and ADP/O ratios**

State III is the rate of oxygen consumption in the presence of ADP phosphorylation, while state IV is oxygen consumption in absence of ADP phosphorylation (Jacoby et al., 2015). To evaluate state III and IV mitochondrial oxygen consumption, mitochondria (2 mg/mL) was suspended in reaction buffer (250 mM sucrose, 5 mM potassium mono phosphate, 5 mM magnesium chloride, 0.1% BSA, 0.1 mM EDTA and 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4). Mitochondrial complex I was first blocked using rotenone (2  $\mu$ M). State IV oxygen consumption was initiated by addition of succinate (5mM), and rate of oxygen consumption was measured. State III oxygen consumption was initiated by addition of succinate (5mM), the ratio between rate of mitochondrial oxygen consumption under state III and state IV was then determined. The number of nanomoles of ADP phosphorylated by the nanomoles of oxygen consumed per mitochondria (ADP/O) ratio was calculated according to Estabrook, (1967), using 235 nmol O<sub>2</sub>/mL as the value of oxygen solubility at 25°C.

#### Mitochondrial outer membrane permeability and uncoupled oxidative phosphorylation

To characterize the integrity of the outer mitochondrial membrane, cytochrome c was added at a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ M (Figure 10). The outer membrane permeability is characterized by release of cytochrome c to sarcoplasm (Gouspillou et al., 2011). When cytochrome c is released, it interferes with oxygen consumption and ATP synthesis. An increased response to exogenous cytochrome c added to the mitochondria, therefore, indicates loss of the outer membrane mitochondrial permeability. Mitochondria outer membrane permeability/integrity was evaluated by addition of substrates, rotenone (2  $\mu$ M), and succinate (5 mM). State III was initiated by addition of ADP, and cytochrome c was added at a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ M. The degree of coupling between the electron transport chain (ETC; Figure 13) and the oxidative phosphorylation machinery (OXPHOS) was evaluated by adding mitochondrial (2 mg/mL) suspended in reaction buffer (250 mM sucrose, 5 mM potassium mono phosphate, 5 mM magnesium chloride, 0.1% BSA, 0.1 mM EDTA and 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4). Mitochondria were started in a coupled state with substrates, rotenone (2  $\mu$ M), and succinate (5 mM). State III was initiated by the addition of ADP, and FCCP-induced maximal uncoupler-stimulated respiration was initiated by the addition of FCCP at final concentration of 100  $\mu$ M.

#### Statistical analysis

A completely randomized block design was utilized to determine muscle-specific differences in mitochondrial functionality and color attributes. The experiment was replicated 11 times (n = 11) using a completely randomized design (CRD). Eleven loins were collected during two different phases. There was no significant effect of collection day on mitochondrial functionality. Hence, the collection day was not included in the model. Each loin from normal-pH and dark-cutting beef was considered a block. Least square means and standard error of mean were analyzed using Proc GLM procedure in SAS (Version 9.1, SAS Institute Inc. Cary, NC). Least square means were separated using the pdiff option and were considered significant at P < 0.05.

#### Results

#### Muscle pH and mitochondrial protein content

To characterize differences in muscle pH and mitochondrial protein content between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef, we measured muscle pH and mitochondrial protein content. Results showed that dark-cutting beef had a significantly greater ultimate muscle pH and protein content compared to normal-pH beef (Figure 8, P < 0.05).

#### Mitochondrial complex I, II and IV oxygen consumption

To determine the functionality of mitochondrial complexes (Complex I, II, and IV), different substrates and complex inhibitors were added. The addition of glutamate and malate to isolated mitochondria resulted in measurable oxygen consumption in both normal-pH and dark-cutting beef (Figure 10A). However, there were no significant differences in the oxygen consumption rate between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef (P > 0.05). Thus, these results suggest that a close link between mitochondria complex I function in normal-pH and dark-cutting beef.

The addition of succinate to stimulate complex II oxygen consumption resulted in greater mitochondrial oxygen consumption in dark-cutting beef than normal-pH beef (Figure 10B, P < 0.05). The addition of TMPD and ascorbate to stimulate complex IV oxygen consumption resulted in no differences in the rate of oxygen consumption between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef mitochondria (Figure 10C, P > 0.05). The addition of complex I and II inhibitors (rotenone and Antimycin A), inhibited oxygen consumption in both normal-pH and dark-cutting beef mitochondria (Figure 9). Thus, the results suggest that complex II activity may play a role in the development of the dark-cutting condition.

#### Mitochondrial outer membrane integrity and respiratory control ratio

To determine the integrity of the outer membrane, we added cytochrome *c* to isolated mitochondria. The addition of cytochrome *c* resulted in measurable oxygen consumption in both normal-pH and dark-cutting beef (Figure 11). However, there were no significant differences in the rate of oxygen consumption between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef (P > 0.05). Therefore, results suggest similar mitochondrial outer membrane integrity in normal-pH vs dark-cutting beef. Additionally, we measured the mitochondrial respiratory control ratio (RCR) by dividing the rate of oxygen consumption between state III and IV. Results showed that dark-cutting beef had a greater RCR compared to normal-pH beef (P < 0.05). Thus, a

greater RCR in dark-cutting beef is an indicator of intact inner mitochondrial membrane and greater oxidative phosphorylation capacity.

#### Mitochondrial coupled and uncoupled oxidative phosphorylation

To further evaluate the oxidative phosphorylation efficiency, we measured ADP/O ratio and the rate of oxygen consumption in presence of the uncoupler FCCP. Results revealed that normal-pH beef had a greater ADP/O ratio compared to dark-cutting beef (P < 0.05; Figure 14 B). Addition of FCCP resulted in measurable oxygen consumption (Figure 14). Dark-cutting beef had greater uncoupled respiration compared to normal-pH beef (P < 0.05; Figure 15A). A greater uncoupled respiration and low ADP/O ratio in dark-cutting beef may suggest greater oxidative phosphorylation capacity.

#### Discussion

#### Biochemical properties of normal-pH and dark-cutting steaks

It has been previously shown that dark-cutting beef has a greater muscle pH compared to normal-pH beef (English et al., 2016; Mahmood et al., 2018). Consistent with these studies, our data showed that dark-cutting beef has a greater muscle pH compared to normal-pH beef (Figure 8B). The high ultimate muscle pH observed in dark-cutting beef can be attributed to the depletion of muscle glycogen ante-mortem. McKeith et al. (2016) noted that the development of dark-cutting beef occurs when glycogen concentration is less than 80 mmol/kg tissue.

Further, reduced muscle glycogen content in dark-cutting beef suggests an increased metabolic capacity. The depletion of muscle glycogen can result in reduced lactate accumulation post-mortem (Briskey et al., 1966; Ferguson & Gerrard, 2014; Rosenvold et al., 2001). A reduction in lactate concentration can lead to elevated muscle pH, which in turn influences muscle metabolism. Additionally, the high muscle pH can sustain mitochondria

activity post-mortem (Ashmore et al., 1971; Tang et al., 2005 b). Hence, in the current research, steak oxygen consumption was greater in dark-cutting steaks than normal-pH steaks. Previous research also noted greater oxygen consumption and more deoxymyoglobin content in bloomed steaks than normal-pH steaks (English et al., 2016; McKeith et al., 2016).

#### Mitochondrial protein content

The incidences of stress before slaughter may trigger a bioenergetics survival mechanism ensured to maintain energy homeostasis through increased mitochondrial density. Consistent with previous findings (McKeith et al., 2016), we observed greater mitochondrial protein content in dark-cutting beef compared with normal-pH beef. The increase in mitochondrial content is reflective of adaptive responses to cellular stressors (Barbour & Turner, 2014; Erlich et al., 2016; Olsen et al., 2015; Picard et al., 2018). Therefore, cellular adaptive pathways might boost mitochondrial bioenergetics and biogenesis via fission and fusion pathways (Erlich et al., 2016; Palmer et al., 2011; Westermann, 2010). Thus, the increase in mitochondrial division and multiplication processes ensures adequate energy supply. However, it is still not clear how fusion and fission mechanisms are activated and coordinated in post-mortem dark-cutting beef.

#### Effects on mitochondrial functionality

#### Mitochondrial membrane integrity

Due to practical difficulty in procuring loins immediately after harvest from a commercial packing plant, mitochondrial functionality was evaluated 72 h postmortem. Inherent pH differences between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef can influence postmortem proteolytic changes, which can influence mitochondrial function. Hence, mitochondrial membrane integrity was determined to make sure mitochondrial functional differences were not due to pH. No significant differences in mitochondrial membrane integrity were observed between normal-pH and dark-cutting mitochondria.

Additionally, extraneous cytochrome c additions showed no significant effect on mitochondrial respiration in normal-pH and dark-cutting beef. The response to cytochrome c addition indicates loss of outer membrane integrity and is associated with release of cytochrome c. However, when release of cytochrome c was accessed by addition of TMPD with ascorbate, a similar response in TMPD-induced respiration (complex IV respiration) between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef was observed. TMPD-induced respiration is cytochrome c-dependent, as TMPD is a membrane-permeable electron donor capable of reducing cytochrome c (Gottlieb, Armour, & Thompson, 2002). Thus, these results might suggest a similar out membrane integrity with no cytochrome c.

#### Oxygen consumption of different mitochondrial complexes

Our results suggest that dark-cutting beef has a greater oxidative phosphorylation capacity primarily due to mitochondrial complex II respiration. However, the mechanistic basis for greater complex II activity is not clear. Jardim-Messeder et al. (2015); Yadava and Nicholls, (2007) noted that mitochondrial complex II plays a central role in mitochondrial metabolism by linking the tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA) with the electron transport chain (ETC), catalyzing oxidation of succinate to fumarate and reduction of ubiquinone (UQ) to ubiquinol (UQH<sub>2</sub>). Consistent with the proteomic analysis (Chapter II), we observed greater expression of mitochondrial complex II proteins in dark-cutting beef. Thus, mitochondrial respiration at complex II may play part in the development of dark-cutting beef.

Additionally, our results suggest that dark-cutting beef has an efficient oxidative phosphorylation capacity with a well intact inner membrane compared to normal-pH beef. This might be attributed to greater RCR and state III oxygen consumption. A grater RCR can be attributed to an intact inner mitochondrial membrane integrity. While the increase in oxygen consumption under state III in dark-cutting beef might be associated with increased utilization of substrate-dependent respiration. Further, the greater RCR and State III OCR correlate with effective ADP-coupled oxidation phosphorylation (Estabrook, 1967; Gottlieb et al., 2002). Thus, the decreased ability of the mitochondria to carry out ADP coupled respiration as observed in normal-pH beef might be attributed to a less active ATP synthase or to a decreased ability to transport ADP.

Further, the greater ADP/O ratios observed in normal-pH beef could also be associated with coupling of nucleotides and phosphate transport to electrochemical proton gradient across the mitochondrial inner membrane (Gottlieb et al., 2002). Additionally, the significantly greater response to addition of uncoupler, FCCP in dark-cutting beef might suggest that the proton gradient across the inner membrane was not dissipated, and mitochondrial respiration was thus not limited by electron transport or access to oxidizable substrate.

The increased oxidative phosphorylation capacity coupled with increased complex II respiration observed in dark-cutting beef may suggest greater mitochondrial oxygen consumption. Thus, this might inhibit myoglobin oxygenation and hence, cause muscle darkening. Egbert & Cornforth (1986) noted that inhibition of pre-rigor mitochondrial respiration with rotenone results in a bright-red color. Thus, increased mitochondrial respiration may explain, in part, the dark-color in dark-cutting beef.

#### Conclusion

Dark-cutting beef has a greater oxidative phosphorylation capacity primarily due to mitochondrial complex II respiration. The incidences of stress before slaughter may trigger a bioenergetics survival mechanism ensured to maintain energy homeostasis through increased mitochondrial density and respiration. This activity is supported by a high ultimate post-mortem muscle pH, increasing mitochondria's capacity to utilize oxidizable substrates and consume oxygen.



Figure 8: Differences in mitochondrial protein content (A) and Muscle pH (B) in normal-pH (green) and dark-cutting beef (red)

Mitochondria were isolated from 11 normal-pH and dark-cutting beef samples. Mitochondria protein content was determined using a BCA assay. The pH of each steak was recorded using an Accumet 50 pH meter. a-b, Least square means with different letters are different (P < 0.05).



Figure 9: Evaluation of mitochondrial respiration at complex I, II, and IV

Mitochondria isolated as described in the methods was used to measure mitochondrial respiration at complex I, II and IV. Mitochondrial basal respiration was measured for 20 seconds and then complex I was initiated by the addition of glutamate and malate, and run for 80 seconds. Subsequently, respiration was blocked by addition of rotenone at 120 seconds . Succinate was added to stimulate complex II respiration and then blocked by addition of Antimycin A. Finally, complex IV respiration was measured in presence of TMPD and ascorbate as substrates for about 100 seconds.





Differences in mitochondria respiration at complex I, II and IV between normal-pH and darkcutting beef was measured as described in Figure 8. A) Represents mitochondrial OCR measured at complex I after the addition of glutamate and malate. B) Represents mitochondrial OCR measured at complex II after addition of succinate. C) Represents mitochondrial OCR measured at complex IV after addition of TMPD and ascorbate. a-b, Least square means with different letters are different (P < 0.05).



Figure 11: Evaluation of mitochondrial state III, IV and outer membrane integrity To evaluate mitochondrial state III, IV and outer membrane integrity, mitochondria were isolated as described in the methods. Mitochondrial basal respiration was measured for 20 seconds, and then inhibited by addition of rotenone. State IV OCR was initiated by addition of succinate while state III OCR was initiated by addition of ADP. Finally, mitochondrial membrane integrity was evaluated by addition of cytochrome *c*.



Figure 12: Differences in mitochondrial OCR under state III and state IV in normal-pH and dark-Cutting beef

Mitochondrial state III and IV between normal-pH and dark-cutting beef, was evaluated as described in Figure 10. A) Represents state III OCR determined by measuring the rate of oxygen consumption by mitochondria in presence of ADP. B) Represents state IV OCR was determined by measuring mitochondrial respiration in presence of succinate as the substrate. a-b, Least square means with different letters are different (P < 0.05).


Figure 13: Differences in mitochondrial outer membrane integrity and respiratory control ratio in normal-pH (Red) and dark-cutting beef (green)

Mitochondrial outer membrane integrity in dark-cutting vs normal-pH beef, was evaluated as described in Figure 10. A) Represents mitochondrial membrane integrity measured by adding extraneous cytochrome *c*. B) Represents mitochondrial RCR calculated as a ratio between state III and state IV OCR. a-b, Least square means with different letters are different (P < 0.05).



Figure 14: Evaluation of mitochondrial uncoupled respiration using FCCP uncoupler Mitochondria isolated as described in the methods was used to evaluate mitochondrial uncoupled respiration using FCCP as the uncoupler. Mitochondrial basal respiration was measured for 20 seconds and then inhibited by the addition of rotenone. State IV OCR was initiated by addition of succinate while state III OCR was initiated by the addition of ADP. Membrane integrity was evaluated by addition of cytochrome c. FCCP was added to determine mitochondrial OCR under uncoupled state.



Figure 15: Differences in mitochondrial coupled and uncoupled respiration between normalpH (red) and dark-cutting beef (green)

Mitochondria uncoupled respiration was evaluate between dark-cutting and normal-pH beef using as described in Figure 13. A) Mitochondrial uncoupled respiration was measured by the addition of uncoupler FCCP and effects on subsequent respiration was measured for 100 seconds. B) Mitochondrial coupled oxidative phosphorylation calculated as a ratio between amounts of ADP (nmoles), added under state III OCR to number of oxygen molecules consumed (nmoles).

Table 1. Comparison of mitochondrial content and biochemical properties of normal-pH and dark-cutting beef longissimus muscle.

Parameters		Normal	Dark cutting beef	SEM	P-value
a) Mitochondrial comparison <sup>1</sup>	Mitochondrial protein yield	1.85	2.62	0.13	0.03
b) Surface color <sup>2</sup>	L* a*	40.5 28.4	29.4 21.5	0.84 0.93	< 0.001 < 0.001
c) Biochemical properties <sup>3</sup>	pH Myoglobin concentration (mg/g meat) %Oxygen consumption (OC) Metmyoglobin reducing activity (MRA)	5.6 5.7 61.4 0.82	<ul> <li>6.3</li> <li>7.9</li> <li>74.2</li> <li>1.32</li> </ul>	0.06 0.27 2.40 0.09	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001

<sup>1</sup>Mitochondrial protein yield represents total mitochondria isolated from normal pH and dark cutting muscle by differential centrifugation. It represents mg of protein per gram of tissue

<sup>2</sup> Surface color was measured using a HunterLab Miniscan Spectrophotometer after exposing the steaks in atmospheric oxygen for 1 h at 4 °C. L\* represents lightness and a lower number represents darker meat color; a\* value represents redness and a lower number indicates less red color.

<sup>3</sup> pH was measured using a probe type pH meter; OC determined by changes in % deoxymyoglobin level after blooming and vacuum packing for 30 min at 30 °C. A greater number represents more oxygen consumption; MRA was determined as initial metmyoglobin formation of steaks immersed in nitrite solution for 20 min at 30 °C. K/S ratio at K/S572 ÷ K/S525 was used to determine metmyoglobin. A lower number represents more metmyoglobin formation and less MRA.

#### REFERENCES

- Abraham, A., Dillwith, J. W., Mafi, G. G., VanOverbeke, D. L., & Ramanathan, R. (2017). Metabolite Profile Differences between Beef Longissimus and Psoas Muscles during Display. *Meat and Muscle Biology*, 1(1), 18. https://doi.org/10.22175/mmb2016.12.0007
- AHN, D. U., & MAURER, A. J. (1990). Poultry Meat Color: Kinds of Heme Pigments and Concentrations of the Ligands. *Poultry Science*, 69(1), 157–165. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.0690157
- AMSA. (2012). Meat color measurement guidelines. In American Meat Science Association (Ed.), *American Meat Science Association*. Champaign IL. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11786-018-0341-9
- Apple, J. K., Sawyer, J. T., Meullenet, J. F., Yancey, J. W. S., & Wharton, M. D. (2011). Lactic acid enhancement can improve the fresh and cooked color of dark-cutting beef. *Journal of Animal Science*, 89(12), 4207–4220. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2011-4147
- Ashmore, C. R., Doerr, L., Foster, G., & Carroll, F. (1971). Respiration of mitochondria isolated from dark-cutting beef. *Journal of Animal Science*, 33(3), 574–577. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1971.333574x
- Atlante, A., de Bari, L., Bobba, A., Marra, E., & Passarella, S. (2007). Transport and metabolism of l-lactate occur in mitochondria from cerebellar granule cells and are modified in cells undergoing low potassium dependent apoptosis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Bioenergetics*, 1767(11), 1285–1299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2007.08.003
- Baker, D. J., Timmons, J. A., & Greenhaff, P. L. (2005). Glycogen phosphorylase inhibition in type 2 diabetes therapy: A systematic evaluation of metabolic and functional effects in rat skeletal muscle. *Diabetes*, 54(8), 2453–2459. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.54.8.2453
- Barbour, J. A., & Turner, N. (2014). Mitochondrial stress signaling promotes cellular adaptations. *International Journal of Cell Biology*.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/156020

- Baughman, J. M., Perocchi, F., Girgis, H. S., Plovanich, M., Belcher-Timme, C. A., Sancak, Y., ... Mootha, V. K. (2011). Integrative genomics identifies MCU as an essential component of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter. *Nature*, 476(7360), 341–345. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10234
- Bechtold, A., Mafi, G., VanOverbeke, D., & Ramanathan, R. (2018). Comparison of Myoglobin, Hemoglobin, and Cytochrome C Oxidation Properties. *Meat and Muscle Biology*, 2(2), 179–179. https://doi.org/10.221751/RMC2018.157
- Bekhit, A. E. D., & Faustman, C. (2005). Metmyoglobin reducing activity. *Meat Science*, 71(3), 407–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2005.04.032
- Belskie, K. M., Van Buiten, C. B., Ramanathan, R., & Mancini, R. A. (2015). Reverse electron transport effects on NADH formation and metmyoglobin reduction. *Meat Science*, 105, 89–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.02.012
- Bendall, J. R. (1979). Relations between muscle pH and important biochemical parameters during the postmortem changes in mammalian muscles. *Meat Science*, *3*(2), 143–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/0309-1740(79)90016-0
- Benedetti, S., Nuvoli, B., Catalani, S., & Galati, R. (2015). Reactive oxygen species a double-edged sword for mesothelioma. *Oncotarget*, 6(19), 16848–16865. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.4253
- Bereiter-Hahn, J. (1990). Behavior of Mitochondria in the Living Cell. *International Review of Cytology*, *122*(C), 1–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7696(08)61205-X
- Bernardi, P., & Di Lisa, F. (2015, January 1). The mitochondrial permeability transition pore: Molecular nature and role as a target in cardioprotection. *Journal of Molecular* and Cellular Cardiology. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.09.023
- Bjarnadóttir, S. G., Hollung, K., Høy, M., Bendixen, E., Codrea, M. C., & Veiseth-Kent, E. (2012). Changes in protein abundance between tender and tough meat from bovine Longissimus thoracis muscle assessed by isobaric Tag for Relative and Absolute Quantitation (iTRAQ) and 2-dimensional gel electrophoresis analysis. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90(6), 2035–2043. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2011-4721
- Bjarnadóttir, Stefanía Gudrun, Hollung, K., Frgestad, E. M., & Veiseth-Kent, E. (2010). Proteome changes in bovine longissimus thoracis muscle during the first 48 h postmortem: Shifts in energy status and myofibrillar stability. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(12), 7408–7414.

https://doi.org/10.1021/jf100697h

- Bonekamp, N. A., Völkl, A., Fahimi, H. D., & Schrader, M. (n.d.). Reactive oxygen species and peroxisomes: struggling for balance. *BioFactors (Oxford, England)*, 35(4), 346–355. https://doi.org/10.1002/biof.48
- Bouley, J., Chambon, C., & Picard, B. (2004). Mapping of bovine skeletal muscle proteins using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and mass spectrometry. *Proteomics*, 4(6), 1811–1824. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200300688
- Bowker, B. ., Botrel, C., Swartz, D. ., Grant, A. ., & Gerrard, D. . (2004). Influence of myosin heavy chain isoform expression and postmortem metabolism on the ATPase activity of muscle fibers. *Meat Science*, 68(4), 587–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2004.05.010
- Bowker, B. C., Grant, A. L., Swartz, D. R., & Gerrard, D. E. (2004). Myosin heavy chain isoforms influence myofibrillar ATPase activity under simulated postmortem pH, calcium, and temperature conditions. *Meat Science*, 67(1), 139–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2003.09.016
- Boykin, C. A., Eastwood, L. C., Harris, M. K., Hale, D. S., Kerth, C. R., Griffin, D. B., ... Savell, J. W. (2017). National Beef Quality Audit-2016: In-plant survey of carcass characteristics related to quality, quantity, and value of fed steers and heifers. *Journal of Animal Science*, 95(7), 2993–3002. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2017.1543
- Brantley, R. E., Smerdon, S. J., Wilkinson, A. J., Singleton, E. W., & Olson, J. S. (1993). The mechanism of autooxidation of myoglobin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.
- Briskey, E. J., Kastenschmidt, L. L., Forrest, J. C., Beecher, G. R., Judge, M. D., Cassens, R. G., & Hoekstra, W. G. (1966). Biochemical Aspects of Post-Mortem Changes in Porcine Muscle. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 14(3), 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf60145a002
- Brooks, G. A., Dubouchaud, H., Brown, M., Sicurello, J. P., & Eric Butz, C. (1999). Role of mitochondrial lactate dehydrogenase and lactate oxidation in the intracellular lactate shuttle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(3), 1129–1134. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.3.1129
- Brown, S. N., Bevis, E. A., & Warriss, P. D. (1990). An estimate of the incidence of dark cutting beef in the United Kingdom. *Meat Science*, *27*(3), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/0309-1740(90)90054-A

Campbell, P. N. (1993). Principles of biochemistry second edition. Biochemical

Education, 21(2), 114. https://doi.org/10.1016/0307-4412(93)90079-f

- Canto, A. C. V. C. S., Suman, S. P., Nair, M. N., Li, S., Rentfrow, G., Beach, C. M., ... King, D. A. (2015a). Differential abundance of sarcoplasmic proteome explains animal effect on beef Longissimus lumborum color stability. *Meat Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.11.011
- Canto, A. C. V. C. S., Suman, S. P., Nair, M. N., Li, S., Rentfrow, G., Beach, C. M., ... King, D. A. (2015b). Differential abundance of sarcoplasmic proteome explains animal effect on beef Longissimus lumborum color stability. *Meat Science*, 102, 90– 98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.11.011
- CHAPPELL, J. B. (1968). SYSTEMS USED FOR THE TRANSPORT OF SUBSTRATES INTO MITOCHONDRIA. *British Medical Bulletin*, 24(2), 150– 157. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a070618
- Chaudhuri, D., Sancak, Y., Mootha, V. K., & Clapham, D. E. (2013). MCU encodes the pore conducting mitochondrial calcium currents. *ELife*, 2013(2). https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.00704
- Chauhan, S. S., & England, E. M. (2018). Postmortem glycolysis and glycogenolysis: insights from species comparisons. *Meat Science*, 144, 118–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2018.06.021
- Collins, S., Pi, J., & Yehuda-Shnaidman, E. (2012). Uncoupling and reactive oxygen species (ROS) A double-edged sword for β-cell function? "moderation in all things." *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*. Bailliere Tindall Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beem.2012.08.002
- Cornforth, D. (1994). Color its basis and importance. In *Quality Attributes and their Measurement in Meat, Poultry and Fish Products* (pp. 34–78). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-2167-9\_2
- Cox, J., Matic, I., Hilger, M., Nagaraj, N., Selbach, M., Olsen, J. V., & Mann, M. (2009). A practical guide to the maxquant computational platform for silac-based quantitative proteomics. *Nature Protocols*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2009.36
- Criddle, R. S. (1969). Structural Proteins of Chloroplasts and Mitochondria. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology*, 20(1), 239–252. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pp.20.060169.001323
- Cunningham, G. M., Roman, M. G., Flores, L. C., Hubbard, G. B., Salmon, A. B., Zhang, Y., ... Ikeno, Y. (2015). The paradoxical role of thioredoxin on oxidative stress and aging. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 576, 32–38.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2015.02.025

- De Bari, L., Atlante, A., Valenti, D., & Passarella, S. (2004). Partial reconstruction of in vitro gluconeogenesis arising from mitochondrial L-lactate uptake/metabolism and oxaloacetate export via novel L-lactate translocators. *Biochemical Journal*, 380(1), 231–242. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20031981
- Echevarne, C., Renerre, M., & Labas, R. (1990). Metmyoglobin reductase activity in bovine muscles. *Meat Science*, *27*(2), 161–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/0309-1740(90)90063-C
- EGBERT, W. R., & CORNFORTH, D. P. (1986). Factors Influencing Color of Dark Cutting Beef Muscle. *Journal of Food Science*, *51*(1), 57–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1986.tb10835.x
- England, E. M., Matarneh, S. K., Scheffler, T. L., Wachet, C., & Gerrard, D. E. (2015). Altered AMP deaminase activity may extend postmortem glycolysis. *Meat Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.11.009
- English, A. R., Wills, K. M., Harsh, B. N., Mafi, G. G., VanOverbeke, D. L., & Ramanathan, R. (2016a). Effects of aging on the fundamental color chemistry of dark-cutting beef. *Journal of Animal Science*, 94(9), 4040–4048. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2016-0561
- English, A. R., Wills, K. M., Harsh, B. N., Mafi, G. G., VanOverbeke, D. L., & Ramanathan, R. (2016b). Effects of aging on the fundamental color chemistry of dark-cutting beef. *Journal of Animal Science*, 94(9), 4040–4048. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2016-0561
- Erlich, A. T., Tryon, L. D., Crilly, M. J., Memme, J. M., Moosavi, Z. S. M., Oliveira, A. N., ... Hood, D. A. (2016). Function of specialized regulatory proteins and signaling pathways in exercise-induced muscle mitochondrial biogenesis. *Integrative Medicine Research*, 5(3), 187–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imr.2016.05.003
- Estabrook, R. W. (1967). [7] Mitochondrial respiratory control and the polarographic measurement of ADP : O ratios. *Methods in Enzymology*, *10*(C), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/0076-6879(67)10010-4
- Esterbauer, H., Schaur, R. J., & Zollner, H. (1991). Chemistry and biochemistry of 4hydroxynonenal, malonaldehyde and related aldehydes. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(91)90192-6
- Estrade, M., Ayoub, S., Talmant, A., & Monin, G. (1994). Enzyme activities of glycogen metabolism and mitochondrial characteristics in muscles of RN- carrier pigs (Sus

scrofa domesticus). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Comparative Biochemistry, 108(3), 295–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-0491(94)90080-9

- FAUSTMAN, C., & CASSENS, R. G. (1990). THE BIOCHEMICAL BASIS FOR DISCOLORATION IN FRESH MEAT: A REVIEW. Journal of Muscle Foods, 1(3), 217–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-4573.1990.tb00366.x
- Ferguson, D. M., & Gerrard, D. E. (2014). Regulation of post-mortem glycolysis in ruminant muscle. *Animal Production Science*. CSIRO. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN13088
- Field, R. A. (1971). Effect of castration on meat quality and quantity. *Journal of Animal Science*, *32*(5), 849–858. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1971.325849x
- Gallo, C., Lizondo, G., & Knowles, T. G. (2003). Effects of journey and lairage time on steers transported to slaughter in Chile. *Veterinary Record*, *152*(12), 361–364. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.152.12.361
- Giorgi-Coll, S., Amaral, A. I., Hutchinson, P. J. A., Kotter, M. R., & Carpenter, K. L. H. (2017). Succinate supplementation improves metabolic performance of mixed glial cell cultures with mitochondrial dysfunction. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-01149-w
- González-Cabo, P., Vázquez-Manrique, R. P., García-Gimeno, M. A., Sanz, P., & Palau, F. (2005). Frataxin interacts functionally with mitochondrial electron transport chain proteins. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 14(15), 2091–2098. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddi214
- Gottlieb, E., Armour, S. M., & Thompson, C. B. (2002). Mitochondrial respiratory control is lost during growth factor deprivation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(20), 12801–12806. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.202477599
- Gouspillou, G., Rouland, R., Calmettes, G., Deschodt-Arsac, V., Franconi, J. M., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., & Diolez, P. (2011). Accurate determination of the oxidative phosphorylation affinity for ADP in isolated mitochondria. *PLoS ONE*, 6(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020709
- Guilbert, H. R. (1937). What causes "black cutter" beef? A historical basis for the hypothesis that the condition known as "black cutter" in beef is caused by hereditary factors. *Journal of Heredity*, 28(6), 213–215. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.jhered.a104362

Hederstedt, L. (1999, June 18). Respiration without O2. Science.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5422.1941

- Holdstock, J., Aalhus, J. L., Uttaro, B. A., López-Campos, Ó., Larsen, I. L., & Bruce, H. L. (2014). The impact of ultimate pH on muscle characteristics and sensory attributes of the longissimus thoracis within the dark cutting (Canada B4) beef carcass grade. *Meat Science*, 98(4), 842–849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.07.029
- HUNT, M. C., & HEDRICK, H. B. (1977). PROFILE OF FIBER TYPES AND RELATED PROPERTIES OF FIVE BOVINE MUSCLES. *Journal of Food Science*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1977.tb01535.x
- Jacoby, R. P., Harvey Millar, A., & Taylor, N. L. (2015). Assessment of respiration in isolated plant mitochondria using clark-type electrodes. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1305, 165–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2639-8\_12
- Jardim-Messeder, D., Caverzan, A., Rauber, R., de Souza Ferreira, E., Margis-Pinheiro, M., & Galina, A. (2015). Succinate dehydrogenase (mitochondrial complex II) is a source of reactive oxygen species in plants and regulates development and stress responses. *New Phytologist*, 208(3), 776–789. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13515
- Jensen, J., Rustad, P. I., Kolnes, A. J., & Lai, Y. C. (2011). The role of skeletal muscle glycogen breakdown for regulation of insulin sensitivity by exercise. *Frontiers in Physiology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2011.00112
- Jerez-Timaure, N., Gallo, C., Ramírez-Reveco, A., Greif, G., Strobel, P., Pedro, A. V. F., & Morera, F. J. (2019). Early differential gene expression in beef Longissimus thoracis muscles from carcasses with normal (<5.8) and high (>5.9) ultimate pH. *Meat Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2019.03.013
- JEYAMKONDAN, S., JAYAS, D. S., & HOLLEY, R. A. (2000). Review of Centralized Packaging Systems for Distribution of Retail-Ready Meat. *Journal of Food Protection*, 63(6), 796–806. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-63.6.796
- Joseph, P., Suman, S. P., Rentfrow, G., Li, S., & Beach, C. M. (2012). Proteomics of muscle-specific beef color stability. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf204188v
- Jouaville, L. S., Pinton, P., Bastianutto, C., Rutter, G. A., & Rizzuto, R. (1999). Regulation of mitochondrial ATP synthesis by calcium: Evidence for a long-term metabolic priming. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(24), 13807–13812. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.24.13807

Jung, C., Higgins, C. M. J., & Xu, Z. (2002). Mitochondrial electron transport chain

complex dysfunction in a transgenic mouse model for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *83*(3), 535–545. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.01112.x

- Jürgens, K. D., Papadopoulos, S., Peters, T., & Gros, G. (2000). Myoglobin: Just an Oxygen Store or Also an Oxygen Transporter? *Physiology*, 15(5), 269–274. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiologyonline.2000.15.5.269
- Kadim, I. T., Mahgoub, O., Al-Ajmi, D. S., Al-Maqbaly, R. S., Al-Mugheiry, S. M., & Bartolome, D. Y. (2004). The influence of season on quality characteristics of hotboned beef m. longissimus thoracis. *Meat Science*, 66(4), 831–836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2003.08.001
- Kelly, D. P., & Scarpulla, R. C. (2004). Transcriptional regulatory circuits controlling mitochondrial biogenesis and function. *Genes & Development*, 18(4), 357–368. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1177604
- Kim, Y. H., Hunt, M. C., Mancini, R. A., Seyfert, M., Loughin, T. M., Kropf, D. H., & Smith, J. S. (2006). Mechanism for lactate-color stabilization in injection-enhanced beef. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf061225h
- Kim, Y. S., Yoon, S. K., Song, Y. H., & Lee, S. K. (2003). Effect of season on color of Hanwoo (Korean native cattle) beef. *Meat Science*, 63(4), 509–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0309-1740(02)00112-2
- Kirichok, Y., Krapivinsky, G., & Clapham, D. E. (2004). The mitochondrial calcium uniporter is a highly selective ion channel. *Nature*, 427(6972), 360–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02246
- Klont, R. E., & Lambooy, E. (1995). Effects of preslaughter muscle exercise on muscle metabolism and meat quality studied in anesthetized pigs of different halothane genotypes. *Journal of Animal Science*, 73(1), 108. https://doi.org/10.2527/1995.731108x
- Komoda, T., & Matsunaga, T. (2015). Metabolic Pathways in the Human Body. In Biochemistry for Medical Professionals (pp. 25–63). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-801918-4.00004-9
- König, S., Zeller, M., Peter-Katalinic, J., Roth, J., Sorg, C., & Vogl, T. (2001). Use of nonspecific cleavage products for protein sequence analysis as shown on calcyclin isolated from human granulocytes. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1044-0305(01)00300-2

- Kroemer, G., Galluzzi, L., & Brenner, C. (2007, January). Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death. *Physiological Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00013.2006
- Ladikos, D., & Lougovois, V. (1990). Lipid oxidation in muscle foods: A review. *Food Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/0308-8146(90)90019-Z
- Lametsch, R., & Bendixen, E. (2001). Proteome analysis applied to meat science: Characterizing post mortem changes in porcine muscle. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49(10), 4531–4537. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf010103g
- LANARI, M. C., & CASSENS, R. G. (1991). Mitochondrial Activity and Beef Muscle Color Stability. *Journal of Food Science*, 56(6), 1476–1479. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1991.tb08619.x
- Laville, E., Sayd, T., Morzel, M., Blinet, S., Chambon, C., Lepetit, J., ... Hocquette, J. F. (2009). Proteome changes during meat aging in tough and tender beef suggest the importance of apoptosis and protein solubility for beef aging and tenderization. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57(22), 10755–10764. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf901949r
- Lawrie, R. A. (1958). Physiological stress in relation to dark-cutting beef. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 9(11), 721–727. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2740091106
- Leverve, X. M., & Fontaine, E. (2001). Role of substrates in the regulation of mitochondrial function in situ. *IUBMB Life*, 52(3–5), 221–229. https://doi.org/10.1080/15216540152846037
- Li, Y. J., Gao, T., Li, J. L., Zhang, L., Gao, F., & Zhou, G. H. (2017). Effects of dietary starch types on early postmortem muscle energy metabolism in finishing pigs. *Meat Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2017.07.008
- MacDougall, D. B. (1982). Changes in the colour and opacity of meat. *Food Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/0308-8146(82)90070-X
- MADHAVI, D. L., & CARPENTER, C. E. (1993). Aging and Processing Affect Color, Metmyoglobin Reductase and Oxygen Consumption of Beef Muscles. *Journal of Food Science*, 58(5), 939–942. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1993.tb06083.x
- Maheswarappa, N. B., Rani, K. U., Kumar, Y. P., Kulkarni, V. V., & Rapole, S. (2016). Proteomic based approach for characterizing 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal induced oxidation of buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) and goat (Capra hircus) meat myoglobins. *Proteome Science*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12953-016-0108-7

- Mahmood, S., Turchinsky, N., Paradis, F., Dixon, W. T., & Bruce, H. L. (2018). Proteomics of dark cutting longissimus thoracis muscle from heifer and steer carcasses. *Meat Science*, 137(August 2017), 47–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2017.11.014
- Mancini, R. A., & Hunt, M. C. (2005a). Current research in meat color. In *Meat Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2005.03.003
- Mancini, R. A., & Hunt, M. C. (2005b). Current research in meat color. *Meat Science*, 71(1), 100–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2005.03.003
- Mancini, R. A., & Ramanathan, R. (2014). Effects of postmortem storage time on color and mitochondria in beef. *Meat Science*, 98(1), 65–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.04.007
- Mancini, Richard A., Belskie, K., Suman, S. P., & Ramanathan, R. (2018). Muscle-Specific Mitochondrial Functionality and Its Influence on Fresh Beef Color Stability. *Journal of Food Science*, 83(8), 2077–2082. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.14219
- Martin, T. G., Perry, T. W., Beeson, W. M., & Mohler, M. T. (1978). Protein Levels for Bulls: Comparison of Three Continuous Dietary Levels on Growth and Carcass Traits. *Journal of Animal Science*, 47(1), 29–33. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1978.47129x
- McKeith, R. O., King, D. A., Grayson, A. L., Shackelford, S. D., Gehring, K. B., Savell, J. W., & Wheeler, T. L. (2016). Mitochondrial abundance and efficiency contribute to lean color of dark cutting beef. *Meat Science*, *116*, 165–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2016.01.016
- McKenna, D. R., Mies, P. D., Baird, B. E., Pfeiffer, K. D., Ellebracht, J. W., & Savell, J. W. (2005). Biochemical and physical factors affecting discoloration characteristics of 19 bovine muscles. *Meat Science*, 70(4), 665–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2005.02.016
- McKenna, D. R., Roebert, D. L., Bates, P. K., Schmidt, T. B., Hale, D. S., Griffin, D. B., ... Smith, G. C. (2002). National Beef Quality Audit-2000: survey of targeted cattle and carcass characteristics related to quality, quantity, and value of fed steers and heifers. *Journal of Animal Science*, 80(5), 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.2527/2002.8051212x
- Mitacek, R. M., English, A. R., Mafi, G. G., VanOverbeke, D. L., & Ramanathan, R. (2018a). Modified Atmosphere Packaging Improves Surface Color of Dark-Cutting Beef. *Meat and Muscle Biology*, 2(1), 57.

https://doi.org/10.22175/mmb2017.04.0023

- Mitacek, R. M., English, A. R., Mafi, G. G., VanOverbeke, D. L., & Ramanathan, R. (2018b). Modified Atmosphere Packaging Improves Surface Color of Dark-Cutting Beef. *Meat and Muscle Biology*, 2(1), 57. https://doi.org/10.22175/mmb2017.04.0023
- Mitacek, Rachel M., Ke, Y., Prenni, J. E., Jadeja, R., VanOverbeke, D. L., Mafi, G. G., & Ramanathan, R. (2019). Mitochondrial Degeneration, Depletion of NADH, and Oxidative Stress Decrease Color Stability of Wet-Aged Beef Longissimus Steaks. *Journal of Food Science*. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.14396
- Moore, M. C., Gray, G. D., Hale, D. S., Kerth, C. R., Griffin, D. B., Savell, J. W., ... O'Connor, M. E. (2012). National Beef Quality Audit-2011: In-plant survey of targeted carcass characteristics related to quality, quantity, value, and marketing of fed steers and heifers. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90(13), 5143–5151. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2012-5550
- Muir, P. D., Deaker, J. M., & Bown, M. D. (1998). Effects of forage- and grain-based feeding systems on beef quality: A review. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research. https://doi.org/10.1080/00288233.1998.9513346
- N. Nair, M., P. Suman, S., K. Chatli, M., S. Li, P. Joseph, M. Beach, C., & G. Rentfrow. (2016). Proteome basis for intramuscular variation in color stability of beef semimembranosus. *Meat Sci.*, 113, 9–16.
- Nair, M. N., Li, S., Beach, C. M., Rentfrow, G., & Suman, S. P. (2018). Changes in the Sarcoplasmic Proteome of Beef Muscles with Differential Color Stability during Postmortem Aging. *Meat and Muscle Biology*. https://doi.org/10.22175/mmb2017.07.0037
- Nair, M. N., Suman, S. P., Chatli, M. K., Li, S., Joseph, P., Beach, C. M., & Rentfrow, G. (2016). Proteome basis for intramuscular variation in color stability of beef semimembranosus. *Meat Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.11.003
- NEWBOLD, R. P., & SCOPES, R. K. (1971). POST-MORTEM GLYCOLYSIS IN OX SKELETAL MUSCLE: EFFECTS OF MINCING AND OF DILUTION WITH OR WITHOUT ADDITION OF ORTHOPHOSPHATE. *Journal of Food Science*, 36(2), 209–214. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1971.tb04026.x
- Nilsson, R., Schultz, I. J., Pierce, E. L., Soltis, K. A., Naranuntarat, A., Ward, D. M., ... Mootha, V. K. (2009). Discovery of genes essential for heme biosynthesis through large-scale gene expression analysis. *Cell Metabolism*, 10(2), 119–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2009.06.012

- Olsen, R. K. J., Cornelius, N., & Gregersen, N. (2015). Redox signalling and mitochondrial stress responses; lessons from inborn errors of metabolism. *Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease*, 38(4), 703–719. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10545-015-9861-5
- Osellame, L. D., Blacker, T. S., & Duchen, M. R. (2012). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of mitochondrial function. *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*. Bailliere Tindall Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beem.2012.05.003
- Pallotta, M. L., Valenti, D., Iacovino, M., & Passarella, S. (2004). Two separate pathways for d-lactate oxidation by Saccharomyces cerevisiae mitochondria which differ in energy production and carrier involvement. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1608(2– 3), 104–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2003.10.008
- Palmer, C. S., Osellame, L. D., Stojanovski, D., & Ryan, M. T. (2011a). The regulation of mitochondrial morphology: Intricate mechanisms and dynamic machinery. *Cellular Signalling*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2011.05.021
- Palmer, C. S., Osellame, L. D., Stojanovski, D., & Ryan, M. T. (2011b, October). The regulation of mitochondrial morphology: Intricate mechanisms and dynamic machinery. *Cellular Signalling*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2011.05.021
- Passarella, S., Paventi, G., & Pizzuto, R. (2014). The mitochondrial L-lactate dehydrogenase affair. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 8(DEC). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2014.00407
- Picard, M., McEwen, B. S., Epel, E. S., & Sandi, C. (2018, April 1). An energetic view of stress: Focus on mitochondria. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*. Academic Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.01.001
- Ponnampalam, E. N., Hopkins, D. L., Bruce, H., Li, D., Baldi, G., & Bekhit, A. E. din. (2017a). Causes and Contributing Factors to "Dark Cutting" Meat: Current Trends and Future Directions: A Review. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12258
- Ponnampalam, E. N., Hopkins, D. L., Bruce, H., Li, D., Baldi, G., & Bekhit, A. E. din. (2017b, May 1). Causes and Contributing Factors to "Dark Cutting" Meat: Current Trends and Future Directions: A Review. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science* and Food Safety. Blackwell Publishing Inc. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12258
- Postnikova, G. B., Tselikova, S. V., & Shekhovtsova, E. A. (2009). Myoglobin and mitochondria: Oxymyoglobin interacts with mitochondrial membrane during

deoxygenation. *Biochemistry (Moscow)*, 74(11), 1211–1218. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0006297909110054

- Pratt, J. M., Robertson, D. H. L., Gaskell, S. J., Riba-Garcia, I., Hubbard, S. J., Sidhu, K., ... Beynon, R. J. (2002). Stable isotope labelling in vivo as an aid to protein identification in peptide mass fingerprinting. *Proteomics*, 2(2), 157–163. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11840562
- Ramanathan, R., Hunt, M. C., English, A. R., Mafi, G. G., & VanOverbeke, D. L. (2019). Effects of Aging, Modified Atmospheric Packaging, and Display Time on Metmyoglobin Reducing Activity and Oxygen Consumption of High-pH Beef. *Meat* and Muscle Biology, 3(1), 276. https://doi.org/10.22175/mmb2019.05.0017
- Ramanathan, R, & Mancini, R. A. (2010). Effects of pyruvate on bovine heart mitochondria-mediated metmyoglobin reduction. *Meat Science*, 86(3), 738–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2010.06.014
- Ramanathan, Ranjith, & Mancini, R. A. (2018). Role of Mitochondria in Beef Color: A Review. *Meat and Muscle Biology*, 2(1), 309. https://doi.org/10.22175/mmb2018.05.0013
- Ramanathan, Ranjith, Mancini, R. A., & Konda, M. R. (2009). Effects of lactate on beef heart mitochondrial oxygen consumption and muscle darkening. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57(4), 1550–1555. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf802933p
- Richards, M. P. (2013). Redox Reactions of Myoglobin. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, 18(17), 2342–2351. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2012.4887
- Rosenvold, K., Petersen, J. S., Lærke, H. N., Jensen, S. K., Therkildsen, M., Karlsson, A. H., ... Andersen, H. J. (2001). Muscle glycogen stores and meat quality as affected by strategic finishing feeding of slaughter pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 79(2), 382–391. https://doi.org/10.2527/2001.792382x
- S. Canto, A. C. V. C., P. Suman, S., N. Nair, M., S. Li, G. Rentfrow, M. Beach, C., ... A. King, D. (2015). Differential abundance of sarcoplasmic proteome explains animal effect on beef longissimus lumborum color stability. *Meat Sci.*, 102, 90–98.
- Sainz, R. D., De la Torre, F., & Oltjen, J. W. (1995). Compensatory growth and carcass quality in growth-restricted and refed beef steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, 73(10), 2971–2979. https://doi.org/10.2527/1995.73102971x
- Salim, A. P. A. A., Suman, S. P., Canto, A. C. V. C. S., Costa-Lima, B. R. C., Viana, F. M., Monteiro, M. L. G., ... Conte-Junior, C. A. (2019). Muscle-specific color

stability in fresh beef from grain-finished Bos indicus cattle. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 32(7), 1036–1043. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.18.0531

- Sammel, L. M., Hunt, M. C., Kropf, D. H., Hachmeister, K. A., Kastner, C. L., & Johnson, D. E. (2002). Influence of chemical characteristics of beef inside and outside semimembranosus on color traits. *Journal of Food Science*, 67(4), 1323– 1330. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2002.tb10282.x
- Sayd, T., Morzel, M., Chambon, C., Franck, M., Figwer, P., Larzul, C., ... Laville, E. (2006). Proteome analysis of the sarcoplasmic fraction of pig Semimembranosus muscle: Implications on meat color development. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54(7), 2732–2737. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf052569v
- Shen, Q. W., & Du, M. (2005). Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in the glycolysis of postmortem muscle. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 85(14), 2401– 2406. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2252
- Sidell, B. D. (1998). Intracellular oxygen diffusion: the roles of myoglobin and lipid at cold body temperature. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 201(8).
- Simioni, C., Zauli, G., Martelli, A. M., Vitale, M., Sacchetti, G., Gonelli, A., & Neri, L. M. (2018, March 30). Oxidative stress: Role of physical exercise and antioxidant nutraceuticals in adulthood and aging. *Oncotarget*. Impact Journals LLC. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.24729
- Smith, A. L. (1967). [13] Preparation, properties, and conditions for assay of mitochondria: Slaughterhouse material, small-scale. *Methods in Enzymology*, 10(C), 81–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/0076-6879(67)10016-5
- Smith, G. C., Belk, K. E., Sofos, J. N., Tatum, J. D., & Williams, S. N. (2000). Economic implications of improved color stability in beef. *Antioxidants in Muscle Foods: Nutritional Strategies to Improve Quality*, 397–426.
- Suman, S. P., & Joseph, P. (2011). Proteomics of Meat Color. 64th Annual Reciprocal Meat Conference, 1–4. Retrieved from http://www.meatscience.org/Page.aspx?ID=7497
- Suman, S. P., & Joseph, P. (2013a). Myoglobin Chemistry and Meat Color. Annual Review of Food Science and Technology, 4(1), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-030212-182623
- Suman, S. P., & Joseph, P. (2013b). Myoglobin Chemistry and Meat Color. Annual Review of Food Science and Technology, 4(1), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-030212-182623

- Tang, J., Faustman, C., Hoagland, T. A., Mancini, R. A., Seyfert, M., & Hunt, M. C. (2005a). Postmortem oxygen consumption by mitochondria and its effects on myoglobin form and stability. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(4), 1223–1230. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0486460
- Tang, J., Faustman, C., Hoagland, T. A., Mancini, R. A., Seyfert, M., & Hunt, M. C. (2005b). Postmortem oxygen consumption by mitochondria and its effects on myoglobin form and stability. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(4), 1223–1230. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0486460
- Tang, J., Faustman, C., Mancini, R. A., Seyfert, M., & Hunt, M. C. (2005). Mitochondrial reduction of metmyoglobin: dependence on the electron transport chain. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(13), 5449–5455. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf050092h
- Voruganti, S., Kline, J. T., Balch, M. J., Rogers, J., Matts, R. L., & Hartson, S. D. (2018). Proteomic profiling of Hsp90 inhibitors. In *Methods in Molecular Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-7477-1\_11
- Wallace, W. J., Houtchens, R. A., Maxwell, J. C., & Caughey, W. S. (1982). Mechanism of autooxidation for hemoglobins and myoglobins. Promotion of superoxide production by protons and anions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.
- WATTS, B. M., KENDRICK, J., ZIPSER, M. W., HUTCHINS, B., & SALEH, B. (1966). Enzymatic Reducing Pathways in Meat. *Journal of Food Science*, 31(6), 855–862. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1966.tb03261.x
- WEDELL, J., & MERKER, H. J. (1964). [RESPIRATORY CHAIN PHOSPHORYLATION AND MITOCHONDRIAL STRUCTURE FOLLOWING ANOXIC HEART ARREST]. Verhandlungen Der Deutschen Gesellschaft Fur Kreislaufforschung, 30, 201–205. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14271647
- Westermann, B. (2010, December). Mitochondrial fusion and fission in cell life and death. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3013
- Wills, K. M., Mitacek, R. M., Mafi, G. G., Vanoverbeke, D. L., Jaroni, D., Jadeja, R., & Ramanathan, R. (2017). Improving the lean muscle color of dark-cutting beef by aging, antioxidant-enhancement, and modified atmospheric packaging. *Journal of Animal Science*. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas2017.1967
- Wišniewski, J. R., & Gaugaz, F. Z. (2015). Fast and sensitive total protein and peptide assays for proteomic analysis. *Analytical Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac504689z

- Wiśniewski, J. R., Zougman, A., Nagaraj, N., & Mann, M. (2009). Universal sample preparation method for proteome analysis. *Nature Methods*, 6(5), 359–362. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1322
- Wittenberg, J. B., & Wittenberg, B. A. (1981). Facilitated Oxygen Diffusion by Oxygen Carriers (pp. 177–199). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-5890-2\_9
- Wittenberg, J. B., & Wittenberg, B. A. (2003, June). Myoglobin function reassessed. Journal of Experimental Biology. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00243
- Wollenman, L. C., Vander Ploeg, M. R., Miller, M. L., Zhang, Y., & Bazil, J. N. (2017). The effect of respiration buffer composition on mitochondrial metabolism and function. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0187523
- Wulf, D. M., Emnett, R. S., Leheska, J. M., & Moeller, S. J. (2002). Relationships among glycolytic potential, dark cutting (dark, firm, and dry) beef, and cooked beef palatability. *Journal of Animal Science*, 80(7), 1895–1903. https://doi.org/10.2527/2002.8071895x
- Xing, T., Gao, F., Tume, R. K., Zhou, G., & Xu, X. (n.d.). Stress Effects on Meat Quality: A Mechanistic Perspective. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12417
- Xing, T., Gao, F., Tume, R. K., Zhou, G., & Xu, X. (2019, March 1). Stress Effects on Meat Quality: A Mechanistic Perspective. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science* and Food Safety. Blackwell Publishing Inc. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12417
- Yadava, N., & Nicholls, D. G. (2007). Spare respiratory capacity rather than oxidative stress regulates glutamate excitotoxicity after partial respiratory inhibition of mitochondrial complex I with rotenone. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(27), 7310– 7317. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0212-07.2007
- Yu, Q. P., Feng, D. Y., Xiao, J., Wu, F., He, X. J., Xia, M. H., ... Zuo, J. J. (2017). Studies on meat color, myoglobin content, enzyme activities, and genes associated with oxidative potential of pigs slaughtered at different growth stages. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 30(12), 1739–1750. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.17.0005
- Yu, Q., Wu, W., Tian, X., Jia, F., Xu, L., Dai, R., & Li, X. (2017). Comparative proteomics to reveal muscle-specific beef color stability of Holstein cattle during post-mortem storage. *Food Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.03.004

Yusa, K., & Shikama, K. (1987). Oxidation of Oxymyoglobin to Metmyoglobin with

Hydrogen Peroxide: Involvement of Ferryl Intermediate. *Biochemistry*, 26(21), 6684–6688. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00395a018

Zhao, C., Zan, L., Wang, Y., Scott Updike, M., Liu, G., Bequette, B. J., ... Song, J. (2014). Functional proteomic and interactome analysis of proteins associated with beef tenderness in Angus cattle. *Livestock Science*, 161(1), 201–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2013.11.030

## APPENDICES

## APPENDIX 1: SUPPLEMENTAL TABLES FOR DIFERENTIALLY EXPRESSED PROTEINS

# TABLE SUPPLIMENT 1

Table 2: Proteins with higher ( $\uparrow$ ) expression (P < 0.05) in dark cutting beef relative to normal beef

Group	Proteins	Fold	Expression	Gene name
		change	in DC/NB	
Mitochondrial and	NADH: Ubiquinone oxidoreducatas	e 1.5	↑DC	NDUFA2
metabolic	subunit A2			
	Succinate dehydrogenase [Ubiquinone	] 1.3	↑DC	SHDA
	flavoprotein subunit, mitochondrial			

Succinate dehydrogenase complex iron	1.3	↑DC	SHDB
sulfur subunit B			
ATP synthase membrane subunit e	1.3	↑DC	ATP5ME
Cytochrome C oxidase subunit 6A2	1.3	↑DC	
Enoyl-CoA hydratase, mitochondrial	1.4	↑DC	ECHS1
Coenzyme Q8A	1.4	↑DC	COQ8A
Aldehyde dehydrogenase1 family			ALDH1A3
member A3	1.5	↑DC	
3-Oxoacid CoA transferase			
UDP-glucose prophosphorylase 2	1.4	↑DC	OXCT1

	1.5	↑DC	UGP2
Malate dehydrogenase	1.4	↑DC	MDH1
Haloacid dehydrogenase like hydrolase	1.4	↑DC	HDHD2
domain containing 2			

Actin	associated	Xin actin binding repeat containing 1	4.4	↑DC	XIRP1
and	muscle	Alpha-actin -4	1.6	↑DC	ACTN4
contraction		Myomesin-3	1.6	↑DC	MYOM3
		Alpha-actin 2	1.3	↑DC	ACTN2
		Myosin heavy chain 4	1.5	↑DC	MYH4

Immune	and	Immunoglobulin heavy constant gamma	2.0	↑DC	IGHG4
inflammatory		4			

Others	Cysteine and glycine-rich protein 3	1.8	↑DC	CSRP3
	Protein phosphatase 1	1.3	↑DC	PPP1R27
	Glutaredoxin 3	1.3	↑DC	GLRX3
	Fibrinogen gamma-B chain	1.6	↑DC	FGG
	Peptidylproyl isomerase D	1.3	↑DC	PPID
	Lim and cysteine rich domains protein 1	1.5	↑DC	LMCD1
	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 1	1.4	↑DC	E1F1B
	Non-metastatic cell 2, expressed in	1.4	↑DC	NME2
	NM23			

# Table supplement 2.

Table 3: Proteins with lower ( $\downarrow$ ) expression (P < 0.05) in dark cutting beef relative to normal beef

Group	Proteins name	Fold	Expression	Gene
		change	in DC/NB	name
Glycolytic	Glycogen phosphorylase, muscle	1.4	↓DC	PYGM
and metabolic	Phosphorylase b kinase regulatory subunit beta	1.4	↓DC	РНКВ
	Amylo-alpha-1-6-glucosidase,4-alpha- glucotransferase	1.3	↓DC	AGL
	Bis-phosphoglycerate mutase	1.3	↓DC	BPGM

Non-specific serine/threonine protein kinase	1.3	↓DC	PPP2R1A
AMP deaminase	2.4	1DC	AMPD1
		•	
Adenvlo-succinate lvase	1.3	1DC	ADSL
5		•	
Bifunctional purine biosynthesis protein	1.3	↓DC	ATIC
1 7 1		•	
(PURH)			
EPM2A glucan phosphatase, Iaforin	1.5	↓DC	EPM2A
Trans-1,2-dihydrobenzene-1,2-diol	1.6	↓DC	DHDH
dehydrogenase			
Delta-aminolevulinic acid dehydratase			
	1.4	↓DC	ALAD
GTP-binding protein SAR1b			~ . ~
	1.6	↓DC	SAR1b
	1 5		
Myosın-l	1.7	↓DC	MYH1

\_

Myosin and	Voltage – dependent L-type calcium channel	1.3	↓DC	CACNB1		
muscle	ubunit beta 1					
contraction						
Proteasome	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) activator	1.5	↓DC	PSME1		
	subunit 1 (PA28 alpha)					
	26s proteasome non ATPase regulatory	1.4		PSMD3		
	subunit 3		¥2 C			
Others	Cop9 Signalosome subunit 8	1.5	↓DC	COPS8		
	Collagen alpha-1 (IV) chain	1.5	↓DC	COL4A1		
	Collagen alpha-2 (IV) chain	1.3	↓DC	COL4A2		

Cop9	Signalosome	complex	subunit	7a	1.8	↓DC	COPS7A
isoforn	n X4						
Cardio	myopathy asso	ciated 5			1.3	↓DC	CMYA5
Bleom	ycin hydrolase				1.4	↓DC	BLMH
Stroma	l interaction m	olecule 1			1.3	↓DC	STIM1

#### VITA

#### FRANK KIYIMBA

#### Candidate for the Degree of

#### Master of Science

## Thesis: CHARACTERIZING THE PROTEOMIC AND MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTIONAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN NORMAL-pH AND DARK-CUTTING BEEF

Major Field: ANIMAL SCIENCE

**Biographical**:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Animal Science at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in December, 2019.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Agriculture at Makerere University, Kampala, Uganda in 2017.

Experience:

Professional Memberships: